

Fluctuation Theorem and Thermodynamic Formalism

Noé Cuneo, Vojkan Jakšić, Claude-Alain Pillet, Armen Shirikyan

▶ To cite this version:

Noé Cuneo, Vojkan Jakšić, Claude-Alain Pillet, Armen Shirikyan. Fluctuation Theorem and Thermodynamic Formalism. 2017. hal-01666028

HAL Id: hal-01666028 https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01666028

Submitted on 17 Dec 2017

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Fluctuation Theorem and Thermodynamic Formalism

Noé Cuneo^{1,3}, Vojkan Jakšić¹, Claude-Alain Pillet², Armen Shirikyan^{1,3,4}

¹Department of Mathematics and Statistics, McGill University 805 Sherbrooke Street West, Montreal, QC, H3A 2K6, Canada

² Aix Marseille Université, Université de Toulon, CNRS, CPT, Marseille, France

³Department of Mathematics, University of Cergy–Pontoise, CNRS UMR 8088 2 avenue Adolphe Chauvin, 95302 Cergy–Pontoise, France

> ⁴Centre de Recherches Mathématiques, CNRS UMI 3457 Université de Montréal, Montréal, QC, H3C 3J7, Canada

Abstract. We study the Fluctuation Theorem (FT) for entropy production in chaotic discrete-time dynamical systems on compact metric spaces, and extend it to empirical measures, all continuous potentials, and all weak Gibbs states. In particular, we establish the FT in the phase transition regime. These results hold under minimal chaoticity assumptions (expansiveness and specification) and require no ergodicity conditions. They are also valid for systems that are not necessarily invertible and involutions other than time reversal. Further extensions involve asymptotically additive potential sequences and the corresponding weak Gibbs measures. The generality of these results allows to view the FT as a structural facet of the thermodynamic formalism of dynamical systems.

AMS subject classifications: 37A30, 37A50, 37A60, 37B10, 37D35, 47A35, 54H20, 60F10, 82C05.

Keywords: chaotic dynamical systems, entropy production, fluctuation theorem, fluctuation relation, large deviations, periodic orbits, Gibbs measures, non-equilibrium statistical mechanics.

Contents

0	Introduction		
1	Prol	ogue: what is the Fluctuation Theorem?	11
	1.1	Transient fluctuation relations	11
	1.2	Fluctuation Theorem and Fluctuation Relation	12
	1.3	Entropic pressure	13
	1.4	What does the Fluctuation Theorem mean?	14
	1.5	Interpretation of Theorems A and B	16
	16	Outlook	16

2	Preliminaries				
	2.1	A class of continuous dynamical systems	17		
	2.2	Asymptotic additivity	18		
	2.3	Topological pressure	20		
	2.4	Expansiveness	23		
3	Periodic Orbits Fluctuation Principle				
	3.1	LDP for empirical measures	25		
	3.2	Fluctuation Theorem and Fluctuation Relations	26		
4	Wea	ak Gibbs measures	29		
5	Large deviation principles				
	5.1	Main result and applications	30		
	5.2	Proof of the LDP for empirical measures	33		
	5.3	Proof of the LDP for asymptotically additive sequences of functions	37		
6	Con	ditions for asymptotic additivity	38		
Fr	eque	ntly used notation	42		
Bibliography					

0 Introduction

This work concerns the mathematical theory of the so-called Fluctuation Relation (FR) and Fluctuation Theorem (FT) in the setting of discrete-time continuous dynamical systems on compact metric spaces. The FR is a universal property of the statistics of entropy production linked to time-reversal and the FT refers to a related Large Deviation Principle (LDP).

The discovery of the FR goes back to numerical experiments on the probability of violation of the 2nd Law of Thermodynamics [ECM93] and associated theoretical works [ES94, GC95b, GC95a, Gal95] in the early 90's. In particular, the first formulation and mathematical proof of the FT were given in [GC95b] in the context of Anosov diffeomorphisms of compact Riemannian manifolds. Further steps in the mathematical development of the subject were taken in [Kur98, LS99, Mae99, Rue99]. These discoveries generated an enormous body of theoretical, numerical and experimental works which have fundamentally altered our understanding of non-equilibrium physics, with applications extending to chemistry and biology. For a review of these historical developments we refer the reader to [ES02, JQQ04, Gas05, RaM07, JPRB11] and to the forthcoming review articles [CJPS18, CJN⁺18]; see also Example 0.7 below. The general mathematical structure and interpretation of the FR and FT from a modern point of view is briefly discussed in Section 1; see [CJPS18, CJN⁺18] for additional information.

We shall consider dynamical systems (M, φ) , where M is a compact metric space and $\varphi: M \to M$ is a

continuous map. This is precisely the setting in which the FR and FT were initially discovered. We shall also assume that (M,φ) is chaotic in the sense that φ is expansive and satisfies Bowen's specification property. We shall prove two sets of results. The first of them concerns the Periodic Orbits Fluctuation Principle (POFP). The second concerns the extension of the classical Gibbs type FR and FT to weak Gibbs measures, to which we shall refer as Gibbs Fluctuation Principle (GFP). Together they constitute a technical and conceptual extension of the previously known results on FR and FT. For example, the POFP holds for any continuous potential, and, more generally, for any asymptotically additive (not necessarily continuous) potential sequence. In the case of two-sided subshifts of finite type, the GFP holds for all Gibbs states (translation invariant or not) of any summable interaction Φ . The first result is new while the second (and only in part) was known to hold for interactions Φ satisfying Bowen's regularity assumption and, in particular, admitting a unique Gibbs state; see Example 0.5 below.

In the usual sense, the FT and FR are related to time reversal and require the map φ to be invertible. In this paper, we shall consider also involutions (other than time reversal) that do not require the invertibility of φ , and show that the FT and FR naturally extend to that case (see Section 3.2 for precise definitions).

We now describe some of our typical results. For simplicity, we consider in the remaining part of this introduction only the invertible case. We assume that φ is a homeomorphism, and introduce the following notion of reversal map: we assume that there is a continuous map $\theta: M \to M$ such that

$$\theta \circ \theta = \mathrm{Id}_M, \quad \varphi^{-1} = \theta \circ \varphi \circ \theta,$$
 (0.1)

where Id_M stands for the identity mapping on M. Although in the main text of the paper our results are stated and proven in the general setting of the asymptotically additive thermodynamic formalism, we shall start with the familiar additive setting before turning to that level of generality.² We fix an arbitrary continuous function³ $G: M \to \mathbb{R}$, and set

$$S_nG = G + G \circ \varphi + \dots + G \circ \varphi^{n-1}.$$

We start with the POFP. Denote by M_n the set of n-periodic points of φ . Under our assumptions M_n is non-empty, finite, invariant under θ , and $\bigcup_n M_n$ is dense in M. We define a family of probability measures on M by

$$\mathbb{P}_n(dy) = Z_n^{-1} \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{S_n G(x)} \delta_x(dy), \quad Z_n = Z_n(G) = \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{S_n G(x)}, \tag{0.2}$$

where $n \geq 1$. Let

$$\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n(\mathrm{d}y) = (\mathbb{P}_n \circ \theta)(\mathrm{d}y) = Z_n^{-1} \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{S_n G \circ \theta(x)} \delta_x(\mathrm{d}y). \tag{0.3}$$

The measures $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n$ and \mathbb{P}_n are absolutely continuous with respect to each other, and the logarithm of the corresponding density is given by

$$\log \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}_n}{\mathrm{d}\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n}(x) = S_n \sigma(x) \quad \text{for } x \in M_n,$$

¹See [KH95, Section 18.3.c] and Remark 2.1 below. This assumption is made only for simplicity of exposition—all our results hold under a weaker assumption, see Section 2.1 for a precise statement.

²We shall freely use the standard notions of the usual thermodynamic formalism [Rue04, Wal82]. For the asymptotically additive extensions see [Bar11] and Section 2.

³Following the usual terminology, we shall often refer to G as a *potential*. The adjective *additive* refers to the property $S_{n+m}G = S_mG + S_nG \circ \varphi^m$ of the sequence $\{S_nG\}$.

where we write

$$\sigma = G - G \circ \theta$$

for the *entropy production observable*. Any weak limit point $\mathbb P$ of the sequence $\mathbb P_n$ is an equilibrium measure for G (see Proposition 2.8). Note that if $\mathbb P_{n_k} \to \mathbb P$, then $\widehat{\mathbb P}_{n_k} \to \widehat{\mathbb P} = \mathbb P \circ \theta$. The mathematical statement of the POFP is the Large Deviation Principle (LDP) for the empirical measures and ergodic averages of σ with respect to $\mathbb P_n$. Its interpretation, on which we shall elaborate in Section 1, quantifies the separation between $\widehat{\mathbb P}_{n_k}$ and $\mathbb P_{n_k}$, as these sequences of measures approach their limits $\widehat{\mathbb P}$ and $\mathbb P$.

Let $\mathcal{P}(M)$ be the set of all probability measures on M endowed with the topology of weak convergence. The following theorem summarizes the POFP.

Theorem A. For any continuous function $G: M \to \mathbb{R}$, the following assertions hold.

Large deviations. There is a lower semicontinuous function $\mathbb{I}:\mathcal{P}(M)\to [0,+\infty]$ such that the sequence of empirical measures

$$\mu_n^x = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \delta_{\varphi^k(x)} \tag{0.4}$$

under the law \mathbb{P}_n satisfies the LDP with the rate function \mathbb{I} .

Fluctuation theorem. The sequence $\frac{1}{n}S_n\sigma$ under the law \mathbb{P}_n satisfies the LDP with a rate function I given by the contraction of \mathbb{I} :

$$I(s) = \inf \left\{ \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}(M), \int_{M} \sigma d\mathbb{Q} = s \right\}. \tag{0.5}$$

Fluctuation relations. *The rate functions* \mathbb{I} *and* I *satisfy the relations*

$$\mathbb{I}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) = \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) + \int_{M} \sigma d\mathbb{Q}, \qquad I(-s) = I(s) + s, \tag{0.6}$$

where $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}(M)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$ are arbitrary, and $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q} \circ \theta$.

Remark 0.1 The importance of periodic orbits for the study of chaotic dynamics in modern theory of dynamical systems goes back to seminal works of Bowen [Bow70] and Manning [Man71]. In the context of the FT and FR, periodic orbits played an important role in the early numerical works [ECM93]. Ruelle's proof of the Gallavotti–Cohen fluctuation theorem for Anosov diffeomorphisms [Rue99] was technically centered around periodic orbits. Further insights were obtained in [MV03] where, following the general scheme of [LS99, Mae99], the pairs $(\mathbb{P}_n, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n)$ and the entropy production observable σ were introduced, and the transient fluctuation relation was discussed. The work [MV03] primarily concerned Gibbs type FT for Bowen-regular potentials G, and we shall comment further on it in Example 0.7 below.

We now turn to the GFP. We shall assume that \mathbb{P} is a weak Gibbs measure for some potential $G \in C(M)^4$ (see Definition 4.1 with $G_n = S_n G$).

Theorem B. Let \mathbb{P} be a weak Gibbs measure for a potential $G: M \to \mathbb{R}$. Then all three assertions formulated in Theorem A remain valid if we replace \mathbb{P}_n with \mathbb{P} .

 $^{{}^4}C(M)/B(M)$ denotes the usual Banach space of continuous/bounded Borel real-valued functions on M.

Remark 0.2 On the technical level the key point of Theorems **A** and **B** is the LDP for the empirical measures (0.4), while the remaining properties are an easy consequence of it. The respective rate functions in Theorems **A** and **B** coincide. The FR for the rate function \mathbb{I} can be derived from an explicit formula, while the FR for I is implied by the contraction relation (0.5). For a more conceptual derivation of the FR for I see Section 1.1.

Remark 0.3 The LDP for empirical measures $\{\mu_n^x\}$ in Theorems A and B follows from a more general result that covers both cases and is stated and proven in Section 5. The proof of the LDP involves, as usual, two steps: the LD upper bound, which is a simple consequence of the existence of pressure (see Propositions 2.7 and 5.6), and the LD lower bound, which is more involved. A prototype of our argument appeared in the proofs of Theorem 3.1 in Föllmer–Orey [FO88] and Theorem 2.1 in Orey–Pelikan [OP88], in which the Shannon–McMillan–Breiman (SMB) theorem is used to derive the LD lower bound for Gibbs states of \mathbb{Z}^d spin systems. By using Markov partitions, the same result was established for transitive Anosov diffeomorphisms on compact manifolds [OP89]. In our context, the SMB theorem is naturally replaced by its dynamical systems counterpart, the Brin–Katok local entropy formula [BK83]. The rest of our argument is related to the papers [You90, EKW94, PS05] (see also [PS18]). Although there the Brin–Katok theorem is not used directly, the key estimates entering Proposition 4.2 in [EKW94] and Proposition 3.1 in [PS05] are also important ingredients in the proof of the Brin–Katok formula and can be traced back to another work of Katok [Kat80, Theorem 1.1].

Remark 0.4 As Remarks 0.2 and 0.3 indicate, on the technical level Theorems **A** and **B** are closely related. We have separated them for historical reasons, for reasons of interpretation, and due to the role the specification plays in the proofs. Regarding the first two points, see Example 0.7 below and Section 1. Regarding the third one, in Theorem **B**, the specification is only needed to allow the use of Proposition 2.2, whereas in Theorem **A** a weak form of specification is crucial also in the proof of the lower bound of the LDP. There are alternative assumptions under which the conclusions of Proposition 2.2 can be established. For example, Pfister and Sullivan [PS05] prove it for dynamical systems with the so-called *g*-product property and apply it to β -shifts. Hence, Theorem **B** holds in that setting.

Before turning to the asymptotically additive setting, we briefly discuss several prototypical additive examples; see also Example 3.5 in Section 3.2. For the details and additional examples we refer the reader to the accompanying review article [CJPS18].

Example 0.5 (Two-sided subshift of finite type) Let $^7 \mathcal{A} = [\![1,\ell]\!]$ be a finite alphabet with discrete metric and let $\Omega = \mathcal{A}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ be the product space of two-sided sequences endowed with the usual metric

$$\Omega \times \Omega \ni (x,y) \mapsto d(x,y) = 2^{-\min\{j \in \mathbb{Z}_+ : x_j \neq y_j \text{ or } x_{-j} \neq y_{-j}\}}.$$

The shift operator $\varphi: \Omega \to \Omega$ defined by $\varphi(x)_j = x_{j+1}$ is obviously an expansive homeomorphism. We assume that (M, φ) is a subshift of finite type: given an $\ell \times \ell$ matrix $A = [A_{ij}]$ with entries $A_{ij} \in \{0,1\}$ and such that all entries of the matrix A^m are strictly positive for some $m \geq 1$, one sets

$$M = \{x = (x_j)_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} : x_j \in \mathcal{A}, A_{x_j x_{j+1}} = 1 \text{ for all } j \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

⁵This fact is related to the *principle of regular entropic fluctuations* introduced in [JPRB11]; see Section 1.5.

⁶It is interesting to note that this result and the contraction principle immediately yield the Gallavotti–Cohen FT.

⁷Here and in the sequel $[1, \ell] = [1, \ell] \cap \mathbb{Z}$.

In this case, φ is topologically mixing and satisfies Bowen's specification property. Let p be an involutive permutation of A and set $\theta(x)_j = p(x_{-j})$. Then θ is a homeomorphism of Ω satisfying (0.1). Thus, if in addition θ preserves M, then it is a reversal of (M, φ) . For a subshift of finite type, that is the case whenever the adjacency matrix P associated to the map p commutes with A.

Theorem A applies to any G, and hence in situations where G exhibits phase transitions and the set of equilibrium states for G is not a singleton. Theorem A also covers the cases where G exhibits pathological behaviour from the phase transition point of view; see [Rue04, Section 3.17] and [Isr15, Section V.2]. For example, if $\mathcal{P} = \{\mathbb{P}_1, \cdots, \mathbb{P}_n\}$ is any finite collection of ergodic measure of the dynamical system (M, φ) , then there exists a potential G whose set of ergodic equilibrium states is precisely \mathcal{P} . There is a dense set of G's in G(M) with uncountably many ergodic equilibrium states. Although such general potentials could be considered non-physical, the POFP remains valid.

Regarding Theorem **B**, consider a spin chain whose set of allowed configurations is M, and let Φ be a summable translation-invariant interaction. We shall follow the notation of the classical monograph [Rue04], and assume that Φ belongs to the Banach space $\mathcal B$ of interactions introduced in Section 4.1 therein. We denote by $K_\Phi \subset \mathcal P(M)$ the set of all Gibbs states for Φ . Then K_Φ is a closed convex set and some elements of K_Φ may not be φ -invariant. The set of φ -invariant elements of K_Φ is precisely the set of equilibrium states for the potential A_Φ (the contribution of one lattice site to the energy of a configuration) defined in Section 3.2 of [Rue04]. If A_Φ satisfies Bowen's regularity condition (see [Bow74] and [KH95, Definition 20.2.5]), then K_Φ is a singleton, but in general K_Φ may have many distinct elements. However, it is not difficult to show that any $\mathbb P \in K_\Phi$ is a weak Gibbs measure for the potential A_Φ (see [EKW94, Lemma 3.2] and [CJPS18] for details), and Theorem **B** applies. These results extend to $\Omega = \mathcal A^{\mathbb Z^d}$ for any $d \geq 1$.

Example 0.6 (Uniformly hyperbolic systems) Let Ω be a compact connected Riemannian manifold and $\varphi:\Omega\to\Omega$ a C^1 -diffeomorphism. Let $M\subset\Omega$ be a locally maximal invariant hyperbolic set such that $\varphi|_M$ is transitive. Then the map φ is an expansive homeomorphism of M satisfying Bowen's specification property. Hence Theorems $\mathbf A$ and $\mathbf B$ hold for (M,φ) ; see [Bow75, PP90].

Example 0.7 (Anosov diffeomorphisms) Continuing with the previous example, if $M=\Omega$, then (Ω,φ) is a transitive Anosov system. This is the original setting in which the first FR and FT were proven.

We denote by $D(x) = |\det \varphi'(x)|$ the Jacobian of φ at x and set

$$D^{s/u}(x) = |\det(\varphi'(x)|_{E_x^{s/u}})|,$$

where $E_x^{s/u}$ denotes the stable/unstable tangent subspace at $x \in M$. The C^1 -regularity of φ implies that the maps

$$x \mapsto D(x), \qquad x \mapsto D^{s/u}(x),$$
 (0.7)

are continuous. The potential

$$G(x) = -\log D^u(x) \tag{0.8}$$

is of particular importance [ER85, EP86], and in the context of FR its relevance goes back to the pioneering work [ECM93]. As a special case of Example 0.6, Theorem A holds for this G and any continuous reversal θ . Theorem B holds for any weak Gibbs measure for G.

If φ is $C^{1+\alpha}$ for some $\alpha>0$, then the maps (0.7) are Hölder continuous and the potential G has a unique equilibrium state, the SRB probability measure $\mathbb{P}_{\mathrm{srb}}$. In this case, denoting by $\mathbb{P}_{\mathrm{vol}}$ the

normalized Riemannian volume measure on M, the empirical measures (0.4) converge weakly to $\mathbb{P}_{\rm srb}$ for $\mathbb{P}_{\rm vol}$ -a.e. $x \in M$. The measure $\mathbb{P}_{\rm srb}$ enjoys very strong ergodic properties and, in particular, is weak Gibbs for G, and Theorem **B** applies to $\mathbb{P}_{\rm srb}$. In this case, the LDP part of Theorem **B** goes back to [OP89]. Since $\mathbb{P}_{\rm vol}$ is also a weak Gibbs measure for G, Theorem **B** applies to $\mathbb{P}_{\rm vol}$ as well.

Example 0.8 (Anosov diffeomorphims: historical perspective) The original formulation of the Gallavotti–Cohen FT [GC95b, GC95a] concerns $C^{1+\alpha}$ transitive Anosov diffeomorphisms with the additional assumption that the reversal map θ is C^1 . The entropy production observable is taken to be the phase space contraction rate

$$\widetilde{\sigma}(x) = -\log D(x),\tag{0.9}$$

and the LDP concerns the time averages $n^{-1}S_n(\widetilde{\sigma})$. Since θ is C^1 , the tangent map $\theta'(x)$ provides an isomorphism between $E_x^{s/u}$ and $E_{\theta(x)}^{u/s}$, and

$$\log D^u \circ \theta = -\log D^s \circ \varphi^{-1}. \tag{0.10}$$

As observed in [MV03], this relation gives that for some C > 0, all $x \in M$ and all n,

$$|S_n\widetilde{\sigma}(x) - S_n\sigma(x)| < C,$$

where $\sigma = G - G \circ \theta$ with G given by (0.8). Hence, under the assumptions of [GC95b, GC95a], the Gallavotti–Cohen FT and the FT of Theorem **B** are identical statements.

The assumption that θ is C^1 is essential for the Gallavotti–Cohen FT. Porta [Por10] has exhibited examples of C^ω Anosov diffeomorphisms on the torus \mathbb{T}^2 which admit continuous but not differentiable reversals, and for which the Gallavotti–Cohen FT *fails* in the sense that the LDP rate function for the averages $n^{-1}S_n(\widetilde{\sigma})$ does not satisfy the second relation in (0.6). For his examples Porta also identifies the entropy production observable $\sigma = G - G \circ \theta$ noticing that the LDP holds for it with a rate function satisfying the FR (0.6).

Porta's observation was a rediscovery of an important insight of Maes and Verbitskiy. Returning to our general setting (M,φ) , in [MV03] the entropy production observable $\sigma=G-G\circ\theta$ is introduced for an arbitrary potential G, and the Gibbs FR and FT were established for the averages $n^{-1}S_n(\sigma)$ assuming that G satisfies the Bowen regularity condition. In this case $\mathbb P$ is again the unique equilibrium measure for G and enjoys very strong ergodic properties. The proofs of [MV03] are further simplified in [JPRB11]; see Section 1.3 below.

We now turn to the asymptotically additive setting.

Definition 0.9 A sequence of functions $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\}_{n\geq 1} \subset B(M)$ is called asymptotically additive if there is a sequence $\{G^{(k)}\}_{k\geq 1} \subset C(M)$ such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \|G_n - S_n G^{(k)}\|_{\infty} = 0.$$
 (0.11)

The set of all asymptotically additive sequences of functions on M is denoted by A(M), and a family $\{G^{(k)}\}_{k\geq 1} \subset C(M)$ satisfying (0.11) is called an approximating sequence for G.

⁸This follows from the Volume Lemma; see [Bow75, Lemma 4.7] and [KH95, Lemma 20.4.2].

⁹Note that G_n is not required to be continuous, but $G^{(k)}$ is. The notion of asymptotically additive potential was first introduced in [FH10], and there G_n is required to be continuous (see Section 6 for a detailed discussion of this point).

Except in Section 5.3, the elements of $\mathcal{A}(M)$ will play the role of *potentials*, and hence we shall often refer to them as *asymptotically additive potential sequences*.

Remark 0.10 An obvious example of an asymptotically additive potential sequence is $\mathcal{G} = \{S_nG\}$, where $G \in C(M)$. We shall refer to this special case as *additive*. Some other conditions, which either imply asymptotic additivity or are equivalent to it, are given in Theorem 6.1. There, we prove in particular that if $\mathcal{G} = \{S_nG\}$ (with $G \in B(M)$) satisfies the *tempered variation* condition (which is weaker than the continuity of G), then G is asymptotically additive. The tempered variation condition, which to the best of our knowledge goes back to [Kes01] (see also [Bar06]), holds in particular if G satisfies the *bounded variation* condition of [Rue92]. Another class of examples is given by *weakly almost additive* potentials, G0 which are characterized by the following property: there is a sequence G1 which are characterized by the following property:

$$-C_m + G_m + G_n \circ \varphi^m \le G_{m+n} \le C_m + G_m + G_n \circ \varphi^m, \quad m, n \ge 0.$$
 (0.12)

If a family $\mathcal{G} \subset C(M)$ is weakly almost additive, then it is asymptotically additive with $G^{(k)} = k^{-1}G_k$; see Lemma 6.2.

Remark 0.11 Note that A(M) is a vector space and that

$$\|\mathcal{G}\|_* := \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \|G_n\|_{\infty}$$
 (0.13)

defines a seminorm on $\mathcal{A}(M)$, which in turn gives a natural equivalence relation: $\mathcal{G} \sim \mathcal{G}'$ iff $\|\mathcal{G} - \mathcal{G}'\|_* = 0$ (finiteness of (0.13) follows immediately from (0.11)). As mentioned in [FH10, Remark A.6 (ii)] (see also the beginning of Section 3.2 in [BV15]), equivalent potential sequences share many important properties and, in particular, have the same approximating sequences. Furthermore, if $V, V' \in C(M)$ are such that $V' = V + U - U \circ \varphi$ for some $U \in C(M)$, then $\{S_n V\} \sim \{S_n V'\}$, so that this concept of equivalence generalizes the standard notion of equivalence for potentials. Moreover, by the definition of asymptotic additivity, for all $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ we have $\lim_{k \to \infty} \|\mathcal{G} - \{S_n G^{(k)}\}\|_* = 0$, so that the additive potential sequences are dense in the quotient space $\mathcal{A}(M)/\sim$. Finally, we note that in each equivalence class there exists an asymptotically additive potential sequence that consists of *continuous* functions (see Remark 6.5).

Remark 0.12 To the best of our knowledge, the first extension of the classical thermodynamic formalism of Ruelle and Walters [Rue04, Wal82] beyond the additive setting goes back to the work of Falconer [Fal88]. This and later extensions were principally motivated by the multifractal analysis of certain classes of self-similar sets, and in this context the subject has developed rapidly; see for example [CFH08, FH10, ZZC11, Bar11, VZ15, IY17] and references therein.

It is likely that the subject will continue to flourish with an expanding number of applications that cannot be reached with classical theory; see Example 0.14 below and recent works [BJPP17, BCJP18] for applications to theory of repeated quantum measurement processes.

Theorems **A** and **B** extend to asymptotically additive potential sequences with the following notational changes. Given $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, one defines a sequence of probability measures on M by the relations (cf. (0.2))

$$\mathbb{P}_n(dy) = Z_n^{-1} \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x)} \delta_x(dy), \quad Z_n = Z_n(\mathcal{G}) = \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x)}.$$
 (0.14)

¹⁰In the literature, the special case where $C_n = C$ is often called *almost additive*, and we shall use this convention in the sequel; see [Bar11].

The time-reversal operation is now defined as $\theta_n = \theta \circ \varphi^{n-1}$. Let us set

$$\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n(\mathrm{d}y) = (\mathbb{P}_n \circ \theta_n)(\mathrm{d}y) = Z_n^{-1} \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n \circ \theta \circ \varphi^{n-1}(x)} \delta_x(\mathrm{d}y)$$
(0.15)

and remark that this relation coincides with (0.3) in the case of additive potentials. We also note that

$$\log \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}_n}{\mathrm{d}\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n}(x) = \sigma_n(x) \quad \text{for } x \in M_n,$$

where we write

$$\sigma_n = G_n - G_n \circ \theta_n \tag{0.16}$$

for the *entropy production in time* n. Accordingly, the ergodic averages $n^{-1}S_n\sigma$ are now replaced by $n^{-1}\sigma_n$. With the above notational changes Theorems **A** and **B** hold for any $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$. Starting with Section 2 we shall work exclusively in the asymptotically additive setting.

Example 0.13 (Boundary terms in spin chains) Consider the spin chains discussed in Example 0.5 in the case where M is the full two-sided shift (i.e., when $A_{ij} = 1$ for all i, j). The measures \mathbb{P}_n of Theorem A can be interpreted as Gibbs measures on finite-size systems, since to each configuration of a system of n spins, one can associate an orbit of period n in M and vice versa. The case $G_n = S_n A_{\Phi}$ then corresponds to periodic boundary conditions, while arbitrary boundary conditions lead to asymptotically additive sequences of the kind $G_n = S_n A_{\Phi} + g_n$, where the boundary term g_n satisfies $\lim_{n\to\infty} n^{-1} ||g_n||_{\infty} = 0$.

Example 0.14 (Matrix product potentials) Perhaps the best known examples of asymptotically additive potential sequences arise through matrix products. Let $\mathcal{M}: M \to \mathbb{M}_N(\mathbb{C})$ be a continuous map such that $\|\mathcal{M}(x)\mathcal{M}(\varphi(x))\cdots\mathcal{M}(\varphi^{n-1}(x))\| \neq 0$ for all $n \geq 1$ and $x \in M$ (here \mathbb{M}_N is the vector space of complex $N \times N$ matrices). The potential sequences of the form

$$G_n(x) = \log \|\mathcal{M}(x)\mathcal{M}(\varphi(x))\cdots\mathcal{M}(\varphi^{n-1}(x))\|$$
 (0.17)

arise in multifractal analysis of self-similar sets, see for example [FO03, Fen03, OST05, Fen09, Bar11]. Sequences of this type also describe the statistics of some important classes of repeated quantum measurement processes [BJPP17, BCJP18]. Except in trivial cases, the sequence $\{G_n\}$ is not additive. Note that the upper almost additivity

$$G_{n+m} \le C + G_m + G_n \circ \varphi^m \tag{0.18}$$

always holds with a constant C that depends only on the choice of the matrix norm on $\mathbb{M}_N(\mathbb{C})$ appearing in (0.17). If the matrix entries of $\mathcal{M}(x)$ are strictly positive for all $x \in M$, or if N = 2 and \mathcal{M} satisfies the cone condition of $[BG06]^{11}$ (in the context of nonconformal repellers), then one can show that

$$-C + G_m + G_n \circ \varphi^m \le G_{n+m} \tag{0.19}$$

for some C > 0, so that the sequence $\{G_n\}$ is almost additive. In many interesting examples, however, (0.19) fails, but \mathcal{G} remains asymptotically additive and hence our results apply. When the potential defined in (0.17) is not asymptotically additive, it can exhibit a very singular behaviour from the thermodynamic formalism point of view. For reasons of space we postpone the discussion of the last point to the forthcoming articles [CJPS17, BCJP18].

¹¹This type of condition can be traced back to [Rue79]. See also [Bar11, Definition 11.2.1]

¹²In some cases, this singularity is dictated by the number theoretic properties of the entries of $\mathcal{M}(x)$; see [BCJP18] for a discussion.

Example 0.15 Let (M, φ) and θ be as in Example 0.5, and let \mathbb{P} be any fully-supported invariant measure on M. For all $n \geq 1$, define $G_n \in C(M)$ by $G_n(x) = \log \mathbb{P}\{y \in M : y_i = x_i, i = 1, \ldots, n\}$, where $x = (x_1, x_2, \ldots)$. Then, if $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\}$ is asymptotically additive, the measure \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs with respect to \mathcal{G} , and hence Theorem **B** applies. In this setup, (0.12) is interpreted as "weak dependence." In particular, all invariant quasi-Bernoulli measures (i.e., satisfying (0.18) and (0.19)) on M are weak Gibbs with respect to an asymptotically additive potential.

We finish with the following general remarks.

Remark 0.16 To summarize, the contribution of our paper is two-fold. Firstly, to the best of our knowledge, the POFP has not appeared previously in the literature and provides rather general formulation and proof of the FT and FR in the context of chaotic dynamical systems on compact metric spaces. Furthermore, the GFP extends the FT and FR of [MV03] to weak Gibbs measures (which do not even need to be invariant). In particular, this extends the validity of the FT and FR to the phase transition regime, as illustrated in Example 0.5. Both results hold for any asymptotically additive potential sequence. Secondly, the FR for the rate function of empirical measures (the first relation in (0.6)) is new and we plan to investigate it further in other models of relevance to non-equilibrium statistical mechanics. Let us mention, however, that in the context of Markov jump processes, the FR for trajectories and the related LDP contraction were previously discussed in [BC15, Section 5].

Remark 0.17 To the best of our knowledge, the FT and FR in the phase transition regime have not been previously discussed in the physics and mathematics literature, apart from stochastic lattice gases; see [BDG+06, BDG+15]. On the other hand, a considerable amount of efforts in the dynamical systems community over the last two decades has been devoted to the extension of multifractal analysis to the phase transition regime; for instance, see [Mak98, FO03, Tes06]. Given the link between multifractal analysis and large deviations theory [DK01, Kes01], the two research directions are related, and this connection remains to be investigated in the future.

Remark 0.18 Although the conceptual emphasis of this paper has been on the FT and FR for entropy production generated by a reversal operation, the LDP parts of Theorems **A** and **B** are of independent interest and have wider applicability; see [CJPS17] for a more general approach than the one adopted here, and [BCJP18] for some concrete applications in the context of repeated quantum measurement processes.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 1 is a continuation of the introduction where we review the general mathematical structure and interpretation of the FR and FT from a modern point of view. In Section 2 we collect preliminaries needed for the formulations and proofs of our results, including an overview of the asymptotically additive thermodynamic formalism. Section 3 is devoted to the POFP and Section 4 to the GFP. Our main technical results regarding the LDP are stated and proven in Section 5. Finally, in Section 6 we discuss some properties and characterizations of asymptotically additive potential sequences.

This work is accompanied by a review article [CJPS18] where the reader can find additional information and examples regarding the FT and FR.

Acknowledgments. We are grateful to R. Chetrite for bringing the paper [BC15] to our attention, and to L. Bruneau for useful comments. This research was supported by the *Agence Nationale de la*

Recherche through the grant NONSTOPS (ANR-17-CE40-0006-01, ANR-17-CE40-0006-02, ANR-17-CE40-0006-03), the CNRS collaboration grant *Fluctuation theorems in stochastic systems*, and the *Initiative d'excellence Paris-Seine*. NC was supported by Swiss National Science Foundation Grant 165057. VJ acknowledges the support of NSERC. The work of CAP has been carried out in the framework of the Labex Archimède (ANR-11-LABX-0033) and of the A*MIDEX project (ANR-11-IDEX-0001-02), funded by the "Investissements d'Avenir" French Government programme managed by the French National Research Agency (ANR). The research of AS was carried out within the MME-DII Center of Excellence (ANR-11-LABX-0023-01).

1 Prologue: what is the Fluctuation Theorem?

1.1 Transient fluctuation relations

Our starting point is a family of probability spaces $(\Omega_n, \mathcal{F}_n, \mathbb{P}_n)$ indexed by a parameter $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Each of these spaces is equipped with a measurable involution $\Theta_n : \Omega_n \to \Omega_n$ called *reversal* (the mapping Θ_n is its own inverse). In many cases of interest the probability space $(\Omega_n, \mathcal{F}_n, \mathbb{P}_n)$ describes the space-time statistics of the physical system under consideration over the finite time interval [0, n], and the map Θ_n is related to time-reversal.

Let us set $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n = \mathbb{P}_n \circ \Theta_n$ and impose the following hypothesis:

(R) Regularity. The measures $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n$ and \mathbb{P}_n are equivalent.

Under Assumption (R), one defines

$$\sigma_n = \log \frac{d\mathbb{P}_n}{d\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n}.$$
 (1.1)

This is a real-valued random variable on Ω_n , and we denote by P_n its law under \mathbb{P}_n . The very definition of σ_n implies a number of simple, yet important properties.

Relative entropy. The relative entropy¹³ of \mathbb{P}_n with respect to $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n$ is given by the relation

$$\operatorname{Ent}(\mathbb{P}_n \,|\, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n) \equiv \int_{\Omega_n} \log \left(\frac{\mathrm{d} \mathbb{P}_n}{\mathrm{d} \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n} \right) \mathrm{d} \mathbb{P}_n = \int_{\Omega_n} \sigma_n \mathrm{d} \mathbb{P}_n = \int_{\mathbb{R}} s \, P_n(\mathrm{d} s).$$

Since this quantity is non-negative, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} s \, P_n(\mathrm{d}s) \ge 0,\tag{1.2}$$

which in the physics literature is sometimes called *Jarzynski's inequality*. This inequality asserts that under the law \mathbb{P}_n , positive values of σ_n are favored.

Rényi entropy. Rényi's relative α -entropy of $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n$ with respect to \mathbb{P}_n is defined by

$$\operatorname{Ent}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{P}_n \,|\, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n) \equiv \log \int_{\Omega_n} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n}{\mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}_n} \right)^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}_n = \log \int_{\Omega_n} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha \sigma_n} \mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}_n = \log \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha s} P_n(\mathrm{d}s) \equiv e_n(\alpha).$$

¹³Also called Kullback–Leibler divergence.

The function $\mathbb{R} \ni \alpha \mapsto e_n(\alpha) \in]-\infty, +\infty]$ is convex and lower semicontinuous. It vanishes at $\alpha=0$ and $\alpha=1$, so that $e_n(\alpha)$ is non-positive and finite on [0,1], and non-negative outside [0,1]. It admits an analytic continuation to the strip $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < \operatorname{Re} z < 1\}$ which is continuous on its closure. Expressing the relation $e_n(1)=0$ in terms of P_n , we derive

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-s} P_n(\mathrm{d}s) = 1. \tag{1.3}$$

In the physics literature this relation is sometimes called *Jarzynski's identity*.

Proposition 1.1 In the above setting, the following two relations hold:

$$e_n(\alpha) = e_n(1 - \alpha) \quad \text{for } \alpha \in \mathbb{R},$$
 (1.4)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}P_n}{\mathrm{d}\widehat{P}_n}(s) = \mathrm{e}^s \quad \text{for } s \in \mathbb{R},\tag{1.5}$$

where \widehat{P}_n is the image of P_n under the reflection $\vartheta(s) = -s$.

Remark 1.2 Relations (1.4) and (1.5) are in fact equivalent: the validity of one of them implies the other. We shall refer to them as the *transient FR*. It refines (and implies) the conclusion of the Jarzynski inequality (1.2) and its basic appeal is its universal form. In applications to non-equilibrium physics, the transient FR is a fingerprint of time-reversal symmetry breaking and emergence of the 2^{nd} Law of Thermodynamics.

Proof of Proposition 1.1. Relation (1.4) is a simple consequence of a symmetry property of Rényi's entropy:

$$\begin{split} e_n(1-\alpha) &= \mathrm{Ent}_{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{P}_n \,|\, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n) = \mathrm{Ent}_{\alpha}(\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n \,|\, \mathbb{P}_n) = \log \int_{\Omega_n} \mathrm{e}^{\alpha\sigma_n} \,\mathrm{d}\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n \\ &= \log \int_{\Omega_n} \mathrm{e}^{\alpha\sigma_n \circ \Theta_n} \,\mathrm{d}(\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n \circ \Theta_n) = \log \int_{\Omega_n} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha\sigma_n} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}_n = e_n(\alpha), \end{split}$$

where we used the elementary relation $\sigma_n \circ \Theta_n = -\sigma_n$.

To prove (1.5), we exponentiate (1.4) and rewrite the result in terms of P_n :

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-\alpha s} P_n(\mathrm{d}s) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-(1-\alpha)s} P_n(\mathrm{d}s) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-\alpha s} (e^s \widehat{P}_n)(\mathrm{d}s).$$

Using now the analyticity of the function $e_n(z)$ in the open strip $0 < \operatorname{Re} z < 1$, its continuity in the closed strip $0 \le \operatorname{Re} z \le 1$, and the fact that the characteristic function uniquely defines the corresponding measure, we deduce that $P_n(\mathrm{d}s)$ and $(\mathrm{e}^s\widehat{P}_n)(\mathrm{d}s)$ coincide. This is equivalent to (1.5). \square

1.2 Fluctuation Theorem and Fluctuation Relation

Definition 1.3 We shall say that the Fluctuation Theorem holds for the family $(\Omega_n, \mathcal{F}_n, \mathbb{P}_n, \Theta_n)$ if there is a lower semicontinuous function $I : \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$ such that, for any Borel set $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}$,

$$-\inf_{s \in \dot{\Gamma}} I(s) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ n^{-1} \sigma_n \in \Gamma \}$$

$$\leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ n^{-1} \sigma_n \in \Gamma \} \leq -\inf_{s \in \overline{\Gamma}} I(s),$$
(1.6)

where $\dot{\Gamma}/\overline{\Gamma}$ denotes the interior/closure of Γ .

Let us note that $\mathbb{P}_n\{n^{-1}\sigma_n\in\Gamma\}=P_n(n\Gamma)$, so that (1.6) can be rewritten as

$$-\inf_{s\in\dot{\Gamma}}I(s) \le \liminf_{n\to\infty}n^{-1}\log P_n(n\Gamma) \le \limsup_{n\to\infty}n^{-1}\log P_n(n\Gamma) \le -\inf_{s\in\overline{\Gamma}}I(s). \tag{1.7}$$

The following result shows that the transient FR implies a symmetry relation for the rate function in the FT.

Proposition 1.4 Suppose that the FT holds for a family $(\Omega_n, \mathcal{F}_n, \mathbb{P}_n, \Theta_n)$. Then the corresponding rate function I satisfies the relation

$$I(-s) = I(s) + s \quad for \ s \in \mathbb{R}. \tag{1.8}$$

Proof. In view of (1.5), for any Borel set $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$P_n(\Gamma) \le e^{\sup \Gamma} P_n(-\Gamma).$$

Replacing Γ with $n\Gamma$ and using (1.7) we see that

$$-\inf_{s\in\dot{\Gamma}}I(s)\leq \liminf_{n\to\infty}n^{-1}\log P_n(n\Gamma)\leq \limsup_{n\to\infty}n^{-1}\log \left(e^{n\sup\Gamma}P_n(-n\Gamma)\right)\leq \sup\Gamma-\inf_{s\in\overline{\Gamma}}I(-s).$$

Taking $\Gamma =]a - \epsilon, a + \epsilon[$ with $\epsilon > 0$, we derive

$$\inf_{|s+a|<2\epsilon} I(s) \le \inf_{|s+a|\le \epsilon} I(s) \le a + \epsilon + \inf_{|s-a|<\epsilon} I(s). \tag{1.9}$$

Since the function I is lower semicontinuous, we have $I(a) = \lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \inf_{|s-a| < \epsilon} I(s)$. Passing to the limit in (1.9) as $\epsilon \downarrow 0$, we obtain

$$I(-a) \le a + I(a)$$

for any $a \in \mathbb{R}$. Replacing a by -a and comparing the two inequalities, we arrive at (1.8).

1.3 Entropic pressure

Suppose that the Fluctuation Theorem (Definition 1.3) holds. Then under very general conditions Varadhan's lemma implies that the limit

$$e(\alpha) = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} e_n(\alpha) \tag{1.10}$$

exists for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and that

$$e(\alpha) = -\inf_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \left(s\alpha + I(s) \right) = \sup_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \left(-s\alpha - I(s) \right). \tag{1.11}$$

The function $e(\alpha)$ is called the *entropic pressure* of the family $(\Omega_n, \mathcal{F}_n, \mathbb{P}_n, \Theta_n)$. Elementary arguments show that:

(a) the function $e(\alpha)$ is convex and lower semicontinuous;

- (b) it is non-positive on [0, 1] and non-negative outside [0, 1], with a global minimum at $\alpha = 1/2$;
- (c) it satisfies the relations e(0) = e(1) = 0 and

$$e(\alpha) = e(1 - \alpha)$$
 for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. (1.12)

If the rate function I(s) is convex (which is the case in the setting of this paper), then inverting the Legendre transform (1.11) gives 14

$$I(s) = -\inf_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}} (s\alpha + e(\alpha)) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}} (s\alpha - e(-\alpha)).$$
 (1.13)

The above discussion can be turned around. Suppose that limit (1.10) exists and that $e(\alpha)$ is differentiable on \mathbb{R} . Then the Gärtner–Ellis theorem (see Section 2.3 in [DZ00]) implies that the Fluctuation Theorem holds with the convex lower semicontinuous rate function I given by (1.13). This gives a technical route to prove the Fluctuation Theorem. Since the seminal work [LS99] this route has been dominant in mathematical approaches to the FT.

Returning to the dynamical system (M, φ) , the above route yields a quick proof of Theorem A if the potentials G and $G \circ \theta$ are Bowen-regular. We follow [JPRB11]. By a classical result of Bowen, the limit

$$e(\alpha) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \int_{M_n} e^{-\alpha S_n(\sigma)} d\mathbb{P}_n$$

exists for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and is equal to the topological pressure of the potential $(1-\alpha)G + \alpha G \circ \theta$; see also Theorem 2.7 in Section 2.4. By another classical result of Bowen [Bow75], the potential $(1-\alpha)G + \alpha G \circ \theta$ has unique equilibrium state for all α , and [Wal82, Theorem 9.15] shows that $e(\alpha)$ is differentiable on \mathbb{R} . Thus, the Gärtner–Ellis theorem applies and gives the FT and the second FR in (0.6). Assuming that the vector space of all Bowen-regular potentials in dense in C(M) (for instance, this is the case in Examples 0.5–0.7 of the introduction), Kifer's theorem [Kif90] implies that the LDP part of Theorem A holds. In this case the first FR in (0.6) follows from a computation given in Section 3.2. The same proof applies verbatim to Theorem B, and in particular recovers the results of [MV03].

The novelty of Theorems $\bf A$ and $\bf B$ is that they hold for potentials G for which the entropic pressure is not necessarily differentiable, hence in the phase transition regime. In this case the proof follows a different strategy: one first proves the LDP for empirical measures, and then uses the contraction principle to prove the FT. Another novelty is that these results also extend to asymptotically additive potential sequences.

1.4 What does the Fluctuation Theorem mean?

Returning to the level of generality of Sections 1.1 and 1.2, the interpretation of the rate function I in the FT is given in terms of *hypothesis testing error exponents* of the family $\{(\mathbb{P}_n, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n)\}$. These exponents describe the rate of separation between measures \mathbb{P}_n and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n$ as $n \to \infty$. If the elements of \mathbb{N} are instances of time and Θ_n is related to time-reversal, these exponents quantify the emergence of the arrow of time and can be viewed as a fine form of the second law of thermodynamics. Let us recall the definition of three exponents relevant to our study and state some results without proofs, which can be found in [JOPS12, CJN⁺18].

¹⁴If I is not convex on \mathbb{R} , the same relations holds if I is replaced by its convex envelope.

Stein error exponent. Given $\gamma \in]0,1[$, we set

$$\mathfrak{s}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{P}_n, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n) = \inf \{ \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n(\Gamma) : \Gamma \in \mathcal{F}_n, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n(\Gamma^c) \le \gamma \}.$$
 (1.14)

The following result establishes a link between the large n asymptotics of $\mathfrak{s}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{P}_n,\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n)$ and the weak law of large numbers.

Proposition 1.5 Suppose that $n^{-1}\sigma_n$ converges in probability to a deterministic limit ep. Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \mathfrak{s}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{P}_n, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n) = -\text{ep} \quad \text{for any } \gamma \in]0, 1[. \tag{1.15}$$

Moreover, the above limit coincides with the following (equal) quantities:

$$\underline{\mathfrak{s}} = \inf \Big\{ \liminf_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n(\Gamma_n) : \Gamma_n \in \mathcal{F}_n, \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{P}_n(\Gamma_n^c) = 0 \Big\},$$

$$\overline{\mathfrak{s}} = \inf \Big\{ \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n(\Gamma_n) : \Gamma_n \in \mathcal{F}_n, \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{P}_n(\Gamma_n^c) = 0 \Big\}.$$

If in addition the entropic pressure $e(\alpha)$ is differentiable at $\alpha = 0$, then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \operatorname{Ent}(\mathbb{P}_n | \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n) = \operatorname{ep} = -e'(0).$$

Recall that, for two probability measures \mathbb{P} and \mathbb{Q} on a measurable space (Ω, \mathcal{F}) , the *total variation distance* is given by

$$\|\mathbb{P} - \mathbb{Q}\|_{\mathrm{var}} = \sup_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{F}} |\mathbb{P}(\Gamma) - \mathbb{Q}(\Gamma)| = 1 - \int_{\Omega} (\Delta \wedge 1) d\mathbb{Q},$$

where the second relation holds if \mathbb{P} is absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbb{Q} , and Δ stands for the corresponding density.

Chernoff error exponents. The lower and upper Chernoff exponents are defined by

$$\underline{c} = \liminf_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \left(1 - \| \mathbb{P}_n - \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n \|_{\text{var}} \right), \quad \overline{c} = \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \left(1 - \| \mathbb{P}_n - \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n \|_{\text{var}} \right). \tag{1.16}$$

The following result provides a sufficient condition for these two quantities to be equal and expresses them in terms of the entropic pressure.

Proposition 1.6 Suppose that the FT holds with the rate function (1.13). Then the upper and lower Chernoff exponents coincide, and

$$\underline{c} = \overline{c} = e(1/2). \tag{1.17}$$

Let us note that e(1/2) = -I(0). Thus, if I(0) > 0, then the measures \mathbb{P}_n and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n$ concentrate on the complementary subsets $\{\sigma_n > 0\}$ and $\{\sigma_n < 0\}$, respectively, and separate with an exponential rate -I(0):

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} n^{-1}\log \mathbb{P}_n\{\sigma_n<0\} = \lim_{n\to\infty} n^{-1}\log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n\{\sigma_n>0\} = -I(0).$$

¹⁵ For instance, if the FT holds and the corresponding rate function I vanishes at a unique point $s_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, then (1.15) holds with $ep = s_0$.

Hoeffding error exponent. Given $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, we define

$$\underline{\mathfrak{h}}_{\vartheta} = \inf \Big\{ \liminf_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n(\Gamma_n) : \Gamma_n \in \mathcal{F}_n, \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \mathbb{P}_n(\Gamma_n^c) < -\vartheta \Big\},
\overline{\mathfrak{h}}_{\vartheta} = \inf \Big\{ \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n(\Gamma_n) : \Gamma_n \in \mathcal{F}_n, \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \mathbb{P}_n(\Gamma_n^c) < -\vartheta \Big\},
\underline{\mathfrak{h}}_{\vartheta} = \inf \Big\{ \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_n(\Gamma_n) : \Gamma_n \in \mathcal{F}_n, \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \mathbb{P}_n(\Gamma_n^c) < -\vartheta \Big\},$$

where the infimum in the last relation is taken over all families $\{\Gamma_n\}$ for which the limit exists.

As functions of ϑ , $\underline{\mathfrak{h}}_{\vartheta}$, $\overline{\mathfrak{h}}_{\vartheta}$, and \mathfrak{h}_{ϑ} are non-decreasing and non-positive on $[0, +\infty[$, and are equal to $-\infty$ on $]-\infty, 0[$. Moreover, the inequalities $\underline{\mathfrak{h}}_{\vartheta} \leq \overline{\mathfrak{h}}_{\vartheta} \leq \mathfrak{h}_{\vartheta} \leq 0$ hold for $\vartheta \geq 0$.

Proposition 1.7 Suppose that the FT holds with the rate function (1.13). Then, for $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\underline{\mathfrak{h}}_{\vartheta} = \overline{\mathfrak{h}}_{\vartheta} = \mathfrak{h}_{\vartheta} = \inf_{\alpha \in [0,1[} \frac{\vartheta \alpha + e(\alpha)}{1 - \alpha}.$$

1.5 Interpretation of Theorems A and B

The FT part of Theorem A fits directly into the mathematical framework and interpretation of the FT discussed in Section 1.4 with $\Omega_n = M_n$, \mathbb{P}_n defined by (0.2), and $\Theta_n = \theta \circ \varphi^{n-1}$.

The above interpretation does not apply to the setup of Theorem **B**. The FT part of Theorem **B** is related to the *principle of regular entropic fluctuations* of [JPRB11] adapted to the setting of this paper, and provides a *uniformity* counterpart to the FT of Theorem **A** which is both of conceptual and practical (numerical, experimental) importance. Here we shall briefly comment on this point, referring the reader to [CJPS18, CJN⁺18] for additional discussion.

Let \mathbb{P}_n be as in Theorem A. For each fixed $m \geq 0$, since the function σ is bounded, the random variables $(n+m)^{-1}S_{n+m}\sigma$ and $n^{-1}S_n\sigma$ are exponentially equivalent under the law \mathbb{P}_{n+m} as $n \to \infty$, and the theorem implies that for any Borel set $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}$,

$$-\inf_{s\in\dot{\Gamma}} I(s) \leq \liminf_{n\to\infty} n^{-1} \log \mathbb{P}_{n+m} \left\{ n^{-1} S_n \sigma \in \Gamma \right\}$$

$$\leq \limsup_{n\to\infty} n^{-1} \log \mathbb{P}_{n+m} \left\{ n^{-1} S_n \sigma \in \Gamma \right\} \leq -\inf_{s\in\overline{\Gamma}} I(s).$$
(1.18)

If along some subsequence $\mathbb{P}_{m_k} \to \mathbb{P}$, a natural question is whether (1.18) holds with \mathbb{P}_{n+m} replaced with \mathbb{P} . Theorem **B** gives a positive answer if \mathbb{P} is a weak Gibbs measure with the same potential G as in the sequence \mathbb{P}_n , and further asserts that this is the only requirement for \mathbb{P} ; neither weak convergence nor invariance of \mathbb{P} play a role. Such level of uniformity is a somewhat surprising strengthening of the principle of regular entropic fluctuations in the setting of chaotic dynamical systems on compact metric spaces.

1.6 Outlook

The general mathematical framework and interpretation of the FT presented in this section are rooted in pioneering works on the subject [ECM93, ES94, GC95b, GC95a, LS99, Mae99]. As formulated here, they were developed in special cases in [JOPS12, BJPP17], and in full generality in [CJN⁺18].

When additional mathematical/physical structure is available, one can say more. For example, for open stochastic or Hamiltonian systems which carry energy fluxes generated by temperature differentials, the entropy production observable coincides with thermodynamic entropy production; see [JPRB11, JPS17, CJPS18]. For the chaotic dynamical systems (M, φ) considered in this paper, Theorems A and B show that the FT is a structural feature of the thermodynamic formalism. Relaxing the chaoticity assumptions (expansiveness and specification) brings forward a number of important open problems that remain to be discussed in the future.

2 Preliminaries

2.1 A class of continuous dynamical systems

Let M be a compact metric space with metric d and Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(M)$. We recall that C(M) (respectively, B(M)) denotes the Banach space of continuous (bounded measurable) functions $f:M\to\mathbb{R}$ with the norm $\|f\|_{\infty}=\sup_{x\in M}|f(x)|$. The set $\mathcal{P}(M)$ of Borel probability measures on M is endowed with the topology of weak convergence (denoted \rightharpoonup) and the corresponding Borel σ -algebra. Given $V\in C(M)$ and $\mathbb{Q}\in\mathcal{P}(M)$, we denote by $\langle V,\mathbb{Q}\rangle$ the integral of V with respect to \mathbb{Q} . In the following, we shall always assume:

(C) $\varphi: M \to M$ is a continuous map.

On occasions, we shall strengthen the above standing assumption to

(H) $\varphi: M \to M$ is a homeomorphism.

In the sequel we shall always explicitly mention when Condition (**H**) is assumed. The reversal operation as defined in the introduction makes sense only if (**H**) holds. The transformations that lead to the FR and FT for general continuous maps are defined in Section 3.2.

The set of φ -invariant elements of $\mathcal{P}(M)$ is denoted by $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, and the set of φ -ergodic measures by $\mathcal{E}_{\varphi}(M)$. The topological entropy of φ is denoted by $h_{\text{Top}}(\varphi)$. The Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy of φ with respect to $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ is denoted by $h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q})$.

The *orbit* of a point $x \in M$ is defined as $\{\varphi^k(x)\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_+}$. An orbit is said to be *n-periodic* if $\varphi^n(x) = x$, and we denote by M_n the set of fixed points of φ^n .

For $I = [l, m] \subset \mathbb{Z}_+$, we denote orbit segments by

$$\varphi^I(x) = \{\varphi^k(x)\}_{k \in I},$$

and call specification a finite family of such segments

$$\xi = \{\varphi^{I_i}(x_i)\}_{i \in \llbracket 1, n \rrbracket}.$$

The integers n and $L(\xi) = \max\{|k - k'| : k, k' \in \bigcup_{i \in [\![1, n]\!]} I_i\}$ are called the *rank* and the *length* of ξ respectively. The specification ξ is N-separated whenever $d(I_i, I_j) = \min_{k_i \in I_i, k_j \in I_j} |k_i - k_j| \ge N$ for all distinct $i, j \in [\![1, n]\!]$. It is ϵ -shadowed by $x \in M$ whenever

$$\max_{i \in [1,n]} \max_{k \in I_i} d(\varphi^k(x), \varphi^k(x_i)) < \epsilon.$$

Given $x \in M$, $n \ge 0$, and $\epsilon > 0$, the *Bowen ball* is defined by

$$B_n(x,\epsilon) = \{ y \in M : d(\varphi^k(y), \varphi^k(x)) < \epsilon \text{ for } 0 \le k \le n-1 \}.$$

Many variants of the specification property appear in the literature; see [KLO16] for a review. We shall make use of the following two forms:

- (WPS) φ has the weak periodic specification property if for any $\delta > 0$ there is a sequence of integers $\{m_{\delta}(n)\}_{n \geq n_0}$ such that $0 \leq m_{\delta}(n) < n$ for $n \geq n_0$, $\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} m_{\delta}(n) = 0$, and for any $x \in M$ and $n \geq n_0$, we have $M_n \cap B_{n-m_{\delta}(n)}(x,\delta) \neq \emptyset$.
- (S) φ has the specification property if for any $\delta > 0$ there is $N(\delta) \ge 1$ such that any $N(\delta)$ -separated specification $\xi = \{\varphi^{I_i}(x_i)\}_{i \in [\![1,n]\!]}$ is δ -shadowed by some $x \in M$.

Remark 2.1 We shall also refer to *Bowen's specification property* [Bow74] as the property (S) with the additional constraint that $x \in M_{L(\xi)+N(\delta)}$. Bowen's specification obviously implies both (WPS) and (S).

The weak periodic specification property is well suited for the LDP of Theorem **A**. Together with expansiveness (see Definition 2.6 below), it is also sufficient to justify a large part of the thermodynamic formalism involved in the proof of this result. It is not needed for Theorem **B**.

The specification Property (S) is involved in the proof of both Theorems A and B. However, it is only needed to ensure the conclusion of the following proposition (see Theorem B in [EKW94], whose proof given for case (H) extends without change to any continuous φ). If the conclusion of the latter can be obtained by a different argument, then Property (S) is not needed at all.

Proposition 2.2 Suppose that φ satisfies Condition (S). Then, the set $\mathcal{E}_{\varphi}(M)$ of ergodic measures is entropy-dense in $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, i.e., for any $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ there exists a sequence $\{\mathbb{P}_m\} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\varphi}(M)$ such that

$$\mathbb{P}_m \rightharpoonup \mathbb{P}, \qquad h_{\omega}(\mathbb{P}_m) \to h_{\omega}(\mathbb{P}) \quad as \ m \to \infty.$$

2.2 Asymptotic additivity

In this section we establish two technical results about asymptotically additive potential sequences. The first result is related to [FH10, Proposition A.1 (1) and Lemma A.4]. See also [BV15, Proposition 3.2].

Lemma 2.3 For all $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ and $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, the limit

$$\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \langle G_n, \mathbb{P} \rangle \tag{2.1}$$

exists and is finite. Moreover, for any approximating sequence $\{G^{(k)}\}\$ of \mathcal{G} we have

$$\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P}) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \langle G^{(k)}, \mathbb{P} \rangle. \tag{2.2}$$

The convergence in (2.1) and (2.2) is uniform in $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, and the real-valued function $\mathbb{P} \mapsto \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P})$ is continuous on the space $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ endowed with the weak topology.

Proof. For all k, m, n and all $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ we have

$$\left| \frac{1}{n} \langle G_n, \mathbb{P} \rangle - \frac{1}{m} \langle G_m, \mathbb{P} \rangle \right| \leq \left| \frac{1}{n} \langle G_n, \mathbb{P} \rangle - \langle G^{(k)}, \mathbb{P} \rangle \right| + \left| \frac{1}{m} \langle G_m, \mathbb{P} \rangle - \langle G^{(k)}, \mathbb{P} \rangle \right| \\
\leq \frac{1}{n} \left\| G_n - S_n G^{(k)} \right\|_{\infty} + \frac{1}{m} \left\| G_m - S_m G^{(k)} \right\|_{\infty}.$$
(2.3)

In view of (0.11), we conclude that $\{n^{-1}\langle G_n, \mathbb{P}\rangle\}$ is a Cauchy sequence and hence the limit (2.1) exists and is finite. Letting $m \to \infty$ in (2.3) and using again (0.11), we conclude that the limit in (2.1) is uniform in $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$. Since

$$\sup_{\mathbb{P}\in\mathcal{P}_{\omega}} \left| \frac{1}{n} \langle G_n, \mathbb{P} \rangle - \langle G^{(k)}, \mathbb{P} \rangle \right| \leq \frac{1}{n} \left\| G_n - S_n G^{(k)} \right\|_{\infty},$$

the uniform convergence in (2.1) and relation (0.11) give that the convergence in (2.2) is also uniform in $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$. This last uniform convergence and the continuity of $\mathbb{P} \mapsto \langle G^{(k)}, \mathbb{P} \rangle$ yield the continuity of $\mathbb{P} \mapsto \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P})$.

The second result concerns the variations of $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$.

Lemma 2.4 For any $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, ¹⁶

$$\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y, z \in B_n(x, \delta)} \frac{1}{n} |G_n(y) - G_n(z)| = 0.$$
 (2.4)

Moreover, if $m_{\delta}(n)$ satisfies $\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} m_{\delta}(n) = 0$, then

$$\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \|G_{n-m_{\delta}(n)} - G_n\|_{\infty} = 0, \tag{2.5}$$

$$\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y, z \in B_{n - m_{\delta}(n)}(x, \delta)} \frac{1}{n} |G_n(y) - G_n(z)| = 0.$$
(2.6)

Proof. We first prove (2.4). Let $\{G^{(k)}\}\subset C(M)$ be an approximating sequence for \mathcal{G} . Let $\epsilon>0$, and fix k large enough so that $n^{-1}\|G_n-S_n(G^{(k)})\|_{\infty}<\epsilon$ for all $n\geq N(k)$. Let $\delta>0$ be such that $|G^{(k)}(x_1)-G^{(k)}(x_2)|<\epsilon$ for $d(x_1,x_2)<2\delta$. Then, for all $n\geq N(k)$, $x\in M$, and $y,z\in B_n(x,\delta)$, we have

$$|G_n(y) - G_n(z)| \le 2n\epsilon + |S_n G^{(k)}(y) - S_n G^{(k)}(z)| \le 3n\epsilon.$$

Since $\epsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, this establishes (2.4).

To prove (2.5), fix $\epsilon > 0$ and k, N large enough so that $||S_n G^{(k)} - G_n||_{\infty} \le n\epsilon$ for $n \ge N$. Then, for any fixed $\delta > 0$, we have for all n large enough that $n - m_{\delta}(n) \ge N$, and hence that

$$||G_{n-m} - G_n||_{\infty} \le ||G_{n-m} - S_{n-m}G^{(k)}||_{\infty} + ||S_{n-m}G^{(k)} - S_nG^{(k)}||_{\infty} + ||S_nG^{(k)} - G_n||_{\infty}$$

$$\le (n-m)\epsilon + ||S_{n-m}G^{(k)} - S_nG^{(k)}||_{\infty} + n\epsilon \le 2n\epsilon + m ||G^{(k)}||_{\infty},$$

¹⁶We note that (2.4) is proved in [ZZC11, Lemma 2.1].

where $m = m_{\delta}(n)$. Using the condition on $m_{\delta}(n)$, this gives

$$\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \|G_{n-m_{\delta}(n)} - G_n\|_{\infty} \le 2\epsilon.$$

Since $\epsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we obtain (2.5).

Finally, to prove (2.6), we observe that for each $x \in M$ and $y, z \in B_{n-m}(x, \delta)$,

$$|G_n(y) - G_n(z)| \le 2||G_{n-m} - G_n||_{\infty} + |G_{n-m}(y) - G_{n-m}(z)|.$$

The required relation (2.6) follows now from (2.4), (2.5), and the condition on $m_{\delta}(n)$.

2.3 Topological pressure

We now introduce a notion of topological pressure associated with φ which generalizes the usual concept of topological pressure to asymptotically additive potential sequences. Given $\epsilon > 0$ and an integer $n \geq 1$, a finite set $E \subset M$ is called (ϵ, n) -separated if $y \notin B_n(x, \epsilon)$ for any distinct $x, y \in E$, and (ϵ, n) -spanning if $\{B_n(x, \epsilon)\}_{x \in E}$ covers M. For $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, $\epsilon > 0$, and $n \geq 1$ we define

$$S(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n) = \inf \left\{ \sum_{x \in E} e^{G_n(x)} : E \text{ is } (\epsilon, n) \text{-spanning} \right\}, \tag{2.7}$$

$$N(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n) = \sup \left\{ \sum_{x \in E} e^{G_n(x)} : E \text{ is } (\epsilon, n) \text{-separated} \right\}. \tag{2.8}$$

We shall show that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log S(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n) = \lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log S(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n), \tag{2.9}$$

$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log N(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n) = \lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log N(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n). \tag{2.10}$$

Moreover, these two quantities coincide and their common value, which we denote by $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})$, will be called the *topological pressure* of φ with respect to \mathcal{G} . This result is of course well known in the additive case $\mathcal{G} = \{S_n(G)\}$ when $G \in C(M)$, and we shall write

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^0(G) := \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\{S_nG\}).$$

Besides existence, we shall also establish some basic properties of \mathfrak{p}_{φ} . They will be proven by approximation arguments, starting from the corresponding well-known results in the additive case.

Proposition 2.5 (1) The relations (2.9) and (2.10) hold and the respective quantities coincide. Moreover, the map

$$\mathcal{A}(M) \ni \mathcal{G} \mapsto \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) \in]-\infty, +\infty]$$

is convex, and either $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) = +\infty$ for all $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, or $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) \in \mathbb{R}$ for all $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$.

(2) If $\{G^{(k)}\}$ is an approximating sequence for G, then

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^{0}(G^{(k)}). \tag{2.11}$$

(3) The topological entropy of φ satisfies

$$h_{\text{Top}}(\varphi) = \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^{0}(0) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)} h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{E}_{\varphi}(M)} h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}). \tag{2.12}$$

In particular, $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})$ is finite for all $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ if and only if φ has finite topological entropy.

(4) If the topological entropy of φ is finite, then for any $\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{G}' \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ we have

$$|\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}')| \le ||\mathcal{G} - \mathcal{G}'||_{*}. \tag{2.13}$$

(5) For any $G \in A(M)$ we have

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) = \sup_{\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)} (\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P}) + h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P})). \tag{2.14}$$

(6) If the entropy map $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M) \ni \mathbb{P} \mapsto h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P})$ is upper semicontinuous, then for any $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$,

$$h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P}) = \inf_{\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)} (\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) - \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P})), \tag{2.15}$$

and for any $G \in A(M)$ and $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ we have

$$h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P}) = \inf_{G \in C(M)} (\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_G) - \mathcal{G}_G(\mathbb{P})), \tag{2.16}$$

where $\mathcal{G}_G = \{G_n + S_n G\}.$

Proof. Proof of (1) and (2). As we have already mentioned, if $\mathcal{G} = \{S_nG\}$ for some $G \in C(M)$, then it is well known (see Sections 3.1.b and 20.2 of [KH95] or Section 9.1 of [Wal82]) that the four quantities in (2.9) and (2.10) are equal and define $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^0(G)$. To extend this result to any $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, we start with (2.9). Note that for any finite set $E \subset M$ and any $\mathcal{G}' = \{G'_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ we have

$$\left| \frac{1}{n} \log \sum_{x \in E} e^{G_n(x)} - \frac{1}{n} \log \sum_{x \in E} e^{G'_n(x)} \right| \le \frac{1}{n} \|G_n - G'_n\|_{\infty}. \tag{2.17}$$

It follows that

$$\frac{1}{n} \left| \log S(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n) - \log S(\mathcal{G}', \epsilon, n) \right| \le \frac{1}{n} \left\| G_n - G'_n \right\|_{\infty}. \tag{2.18}$$

Taking $\mathcal{G}' = \{S_n G^{(k)}\}$ for some approximating sequence $\{G^{(k)}\}$ of \mathcal{G} , we find

$$\frac{1}{n} \left| \log S(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n) - \log S(\{S_n G^{(k)}\}, \epsilon, n) \right| \le \frac{1}{n} \left\| G_n - S_n(G^{(k)}) \right\|_{\infty}.$$

Relation (0.11) and the fact that $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^0(G^{(k)})$ is well defined for all k give that (2.9) holds and that the limits are equal to $\lim_{k\to\infty}\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^0(G^{(k)})$. Relation (2.17) gives that (2.18) also holds for $\log N(\cdot,\epsilon,n)$, and the above argument yields that the all four limits in (2.9) and (2.10) are equal and that (2.11) holds.¹⁷

Since $G_n \mapsto \log \sum_{x \in E} e^{G_n(x)}$ is convex by Hölder's inequality, we obtain that so is $\mathcal{G} \mapsto \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})$.

¹⁷See also [IY17, Lemma 1.1.] and [ZZC11, Lemma 2.3] for proofs of (2.11).

By applying (0.13) to the asymptotically additive potential $\mathcal{G} - \mathcal{G}'$, we obtain that the right-hand side of (2.18) is bounded uniformly in n. As a consequence, we have $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) = \infty \iff \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}') = \infty$, which yields the last statement of Part (1).

Proof of (3) and (4). Relations (2.12) are well known (see Theorem 8.6 and Theorem 9.7 (i) in [Wal82]), and (2.13) immediately follows from (2.18).

Proof of (5). The variational principle (2.14) is established in [FH10, Theorem 3.1] for asymptotically *sub*-additive potential sequences. We include here a proof in the (simpler) asymptotically additive case (see also [Bar11, Theorem 7.2.1]).

If $h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P}) = +\infty$ for some $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, then $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^{0}(0) = +\infty$, so that $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) = +\infty$ for all $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$. Relation (2.14) is obvious in this case. Assume now that $h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P}) < +\infty$ for all $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$. By [Wal82, Theorem 9.10], for any $G \in C(M)$,

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^{0}(G) = \sup_{\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)} \left(h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P}) + \langle G, \mathbb{P} \rangle \right). \tag{2.19}$$

By Lemma 2.3, the sequence $f_k(\mathbb{P}):=\langle G^{(k)},\mathbb{P}\rangle+h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P})$ converges uniformly to $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P})+h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P})$ on $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$. It follows that

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) &= \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^{0}(G^{(k)}) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \sup_{\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)} f_{k}(\mathbb{P}) \\ &= \sup_{\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)} \lim_{k \to \infty} f_{k}(\mathbb{P}) = \sup_{\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)} \left(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P}) + h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P}) \right), \end{split}$$

where the second equality uses (2.19).

Proof of (6). We start by recalling (see [Wal82, Theorem 9.12]) that if $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M) \ni \mathbb{P} \mapsto h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P})$ is upper semicontinuous, then for all $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$,

$$h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P}) = \inf_{G \in C(M)} (\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^{0}(G) - \langle G, \mathbb{P} \rangle). \tag{2.20}$$

We now prove (2.15) and (2.16). Both " \leq " inequalities are an immediate consequence of (2.14).

The " \geq " inequality in (2.15) is immediate by (2.20) since for $G \in C(M)$ and $\mathcal{G} = \{S_nG\}$ we have $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) - \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P}) = \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^0(G) - \langle G, \mathbb{P} \rangle$. To prove the " \geq " inequality in (2.16), fix $\epsilon > 0$ and use (2.20) to find $W_{\epsilon} \in C(M)$ such that

$$h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) \ge \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^{0}(W_{\epsilon}) - \langle W_{\epsilon}, \mathbb{Q} \rangle - \epsilon. \tag{2.21}$$

Consider the sequence $G_k = W_{\epsilon} - G^{(k)}$, where $\{G^{(k)}\}$ is an approximating sequence for \mathcal{G} . In view of (2.2) and (2.13), we have

$$\mathcal{G}_{G_k}(\mathbb{Q}) \to \langle W_{\epsilon}, \mathbb{Q} \rangle, \quad \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_{G_k}) \to \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^0(W_{\epsilon}) \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$

Combining this with (2.21), we see that for a sufficiently large k,

$$\mathcal{G}_{G_k}(\mathbb{Q}) - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_{V_k}) \ge \langle W_{\epsilon}, \mathbb{Q} \rangle - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}^0(W_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon \ge -h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) - 2\epsilon.$$

Since $\epsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, the proof is complete.

2.4 Expansiveness

Besides the specification properties (WPS) and (S), we shall need the following assumptions to formulate our main results. The first concerns the regularity of the entropy map and is needed in the proof of both Theorems A and B. The second concerns the approximation of the pressure in terms of periodic orbits and is only needed in the proof of Theorem A.

(USCE) φ has finite topological entropy, and the map $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M) \mapsto h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q})$ is upper semicontinuous.

(PAP) For any $n \ge 1$ the set M_n is finite, and for any $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, the topological pressure satisfies

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x)}.$$
 (2.22)

We note that, by Proposition 2.5, Condition (USCE) implies that the pressure $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})$ is finite for all $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ and that the entropy satisfies the variational principle (2.15). In particular, $h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) \in [0, \infty[$ for all $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$.

We now discuss some criteria ensuring Conditions (USCE) and (PAP). Together with the specification property, expansiveness is often considered as characteristic of chaotic dynamics.

Definition 2.6 The map φ is said to be forward expansive if there is r>0 such that if $x,y\in M$ satisfy the inequality $d(\varphi^k(x),\varphi^k(y))\leq r$ for all $k\in\mathbb{Z}_+$, then x=y. A homeomorphism φ is called expansive if there is r>0 such that if $x,y\in M$ satisfy the inequality $d(\varphi^k(x),\varphi^k(y))\leq r$ for all $k\in\mathbb{Z}$, then x=y.

The number r for which this property hold is called the expansiveness (or expansivity) constant of φ . We note that the expansiveness constant depends on the metric d, whereas expansiveness only depends on the induced topology on M.

Theorem 2.7 (1) If φ is forward expansive or expansive, then Condition (USCE) holds.

(2) If, in addition, φ satisfies Condition (WPS), then Condition (PAP) holds.

Proof. Part (1) follows from Corollary 7.11.1 in [Wal82], whose proof immediately extends from case (**H**) to case (**C**) (see also [Bar11, Lemma 2.4.4]).

Part (2) is also well known in the additive case, and the proof requires only notational modifications in the asymptotically additive case. We include the proof for completeness.

Let $\mathcal{I}=\mathbb{Z}_+$ in the forward expansive case, and $\mathcal{I}=\mathbb{Z}$ in the expansive case. The uniform continuity of φ and periodicity imply that there is $\delta>0$ such that if $x,y\in M_n$ and $d(x,y)\leq \delta$, then $d(\varphi^k(x),\varphi^k(y))\leq r$ for all $k\in\mathcal{I}$, where r is the expansivity constant. By expansiveness, such points must coincide, and compactness implies that M_n may contain only finitely many points.

Let $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, and let $\epsilon \in]0, r[$. Then, in view of periodicity, for any $n \geq 1$ the set M_n is (ϵ, n) -separated. It follows that

$$\sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x)} \le N(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n),$$

whence, recalling representation (2.10) for the pressure, we conclude that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x)} \le \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}). \tag{2.23}$$

On the other hand, since φ satisfies Condition (WPS), the set M_n is $(\epsilon, n - m_{\epsilon}(n))$ -spanning. It follows that

$$\sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x)} \ge S(\mathcal{G}, \epsilon, n - m_{\epsilon}(n)).$$

Combining this with representation (2.9), and using the condition on $m_{\epsilon}(n)$, we see that

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x)} \ge \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}).$$
(2.24)

Inequalities (2.23) and (2.24) imply the required relation (2.22).

Recall the variational principle (2.14). A measure $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ is called an *equilibrium state* for $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ if

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) = \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P}) + h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{P}). \tag{2.25}$$

We refer the reader to Section 9.5 in [Wal82] for a discussion of equilibrium states. The following proposition implies, in particular, that there always exists at least one equilibrium state if (USCE) and (PAP) are assumed.

Proposition 2.8 Assume that Conditions (USCE) and (PAP) hold, and let

$$\overline{\mathbb{P}}_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \mathbb{P}_n \circ \varphi^{-i},$$

where \mathbb{P}_n is defined by (0.14). If \mathbb{P} is a weak limit point of the sequence $\{\overline{\mathbb{P}}_n\}$, then \mathbb{P} is an equilibrium state for \mathcal{G} . In particular, if \mathcal{G} is additive, then $\overline{\mathbb{P}}_n = \mathbb{P}_n$, and any limit point of $\{\mathbb{P}_n\}$ is an equilibrium state.

Proof. Let a sequence $n_k \to \infty$ be such that $\overline{\mathbb{P}}_{n_k} \rightharpoonup \mathbb{P}$. Since $\overline{\mathbb{P}}_n$ is invariant for all n, so is \mathbb{P} . In view of Hölder's inequality, the function $\mathcal{G} \mapsto \log Z_n(\mathcal{G}) \in \mathbb{R}$ is convex. Moreover, for any $\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{G}' \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, the function $f(\alpha) := \log Z_n(\mathcal{G} + \alpha \mathcal{G}')$ differentiable, and its derivative at zero is given by $f'(0) = \langle G'_n, \mathbb{P}_n \rangle$. By convexity, we have $f(1) - f(0) \geq f'(0)$, which gives

$$\log Z_n(\mathcal{G} + \mathcal{G}') - \log Z_n(\mathcal{G}) \ge \langle G'_n, \mathbb{P}_n \rangle.$$

Replacing $\mathcal{G}=\{G_n\}$ and $\mathcal{G}'=\{G'_n\}$ with $\{G_n\circ\varphi^i\}$ and $\{G'_n\circ\varphi^i\}$, respectively, using the relation $Z_n(\mathcal{G})=Z_n(\{G_n\circ\varphi^i\})$, and averaging with respect to n, we derive

$$\log Z_n(\mathcal{G} + \mathcal{G}') - \log Z_n(\mathcal{G}) \ge \langle G'_n, \overline{\mathbb{P}}_n \rangle.$$

We take $n=n_k$, divide the above inequality by n_k , and pass to the limit as $k\to\infty$. By (2.1) and the uniformity of the limit on invariant measures, the right-hand side converges to $\mathcal{G}'(\mathbb{P})$, and in view of (2.22), the left-hand side converges to $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}+\mathcal{G}')-\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})$. This leads to the inequality $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}+\mathcal{G}')-\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})\geq \mathcal{G}'(\mathbb{P})$, which can be rewritten as

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}+\mathcal{G}')-(\mathcal{G}+\mathcal{G}')(\mathbb{P})\geq \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})-\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{P}).$$

Taking the supremum over $\mathcal{G}' \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ and invoking (2.15), we arrive at (2.25). The statement about the case where \mathcal{G} is additive is immediate, since then \mathbb{P}_n is invariant.

Remark 2.9 None of the quantities appearing in (2.25) depend on the specific choice of potential \mathcal{G} within a given equivalence class (in the sense of Remark 0.11), and hence the equilibrium states depend only on the equivalence class. The limit points of $\{\overline{\mathbb{P}}_n\}$, however, may depend on the specific choice of \mathcal{G} in the equivalence class. It is an interesting question to describe potentials $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ for which the invariant weak limit points of $\{\mathbb{P}_n\}$ are equilibrium states.

3 Periodic Orbits Fluctuation Principle

3.1 LDP for empirical measures

Let $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$. Recall that the sequence of probability measures $\{\mathbb{P}_n\}$ is defined by (0.14), and the sequence of empirical measures $\{\mu_n^x\}$ by (0.4). For a fixed $n \geq 1$, we regard μ_n^x as a random variable on M with range in the space of probability measures $\mathcal{P}(M)$ endowed with the weak topology.

Theorem 3.1 Suppose that Conditions (USCE), (WPS), (S) and (PAP) hold. Then:

(1) The LDP holds for $\{\mu_n\}$ under the laws \mathbb{P}_n , with the lower semicontinuous convex rate function \mathbb{I} : $\mathcal{P}(M) \to [0, +\infty]$ defined by

$$\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) = \begin{cases}
-\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}) - h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) + \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) & \text{for } \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \\
+\infty & \text{otherwise.}
\end{cases}$$
(3.1)

In other words, for any Borel subset $\Gamma \subset \mathcal{P}(M)$ *, we have*

$$-\inf_{\mathbb{Q}\in\dot{\Gamma}}\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) \leq \liminf_{n\to\infty} n^{-1}\log\mathbb{P}_n\{\dot{\mu_n}\in\Gamma\}$$

$$\leq \limsup_{n\to\infty} n^{-1}\log\mathbb{P}_n\{\dot{\mu_n}\in\Gamma\} \leq -\inf_{\mathbb{Q}\in\overline{\Gamma}}\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}),$$
(3.2)

where $\dot{\Gamma}$ and $\overline{\Gamma}$ stand, respectively, for the interior and closure of Γ .

(2) For any $V = \{V_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, the sequence $\frac{1}{n}V_n$ under the laws \mathbb{P}_n satisfies the LDP with the good convex rate function $I : \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$ defined by the contraction relation 18

$$I(s) = \inf\{\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \mathcal{V}(\mathbb{Q}) = s\}.$$
(3.3)

In other words, for any Borel subset $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}$ *, we have*

$$-\inf_{s\in\dot{\Gamma}}I(s)\leq \liminf_{n\to\infty}n^{-1}\log\mathbb{P}_n\left\{n^{-1}V_n\in\Gamma\right\}$$

$$\leq \limsup_{n\to\infty}n^{-1}\log\mathbb{P}_n\left\{n^{-1}V_n\in\Gamma\right\}\leq -\inf_{s\in\overline{\Gamma}}I(s).$$
(3.4)

Moreover, I is the Legendre transform of the function $\alpha \mapsto \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G} + \alpha \mathcal{V}) - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})$.

Remark 3.2 An immediate consequence of (3.1) is that the function \mathbb{I} is affine on $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$.

¹⁸Recall that for $\mathcal{V} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, the quantity $\mathcal{V}(\mathbb{Q})$ is defined as (2.1).

Remark 3.3 If $V = \{S_n V\}$ for some $V \in C(M)$, then Part (2) follows from Part (1) by an application of the contraction principle [DZ00, Theorem 4.2.1]. When V is only asymptotically additive, an approximation argument is required (see Section 5.3). This applies, in particular, to the entropy production sequence $\{\sigma_n\}$ defined by (0.16), see below.

Obviously, Part (1) of Theorem 3.1 yields the LDP part of Theorem A in the asymptotically additive setting.

The proof of Theorem 3.1 is postponed to Section 5, more precisely to Theorem 5.2. There some more general measures \mathbb{P}_n are considered, in order to give a unified treatment to the measures \mathbb{P}_n in (0.14) and the weak Gibbs measures considered in Section 4.

3.2 Fluctuation Theorem and Fluctuation Relations

In this subsection we prove the FT and FR parts of Theorem A in the general setting of the previous subsection. To this end, in addition to Conditions (USCE), (WPS), (S) and (PAP) which are needed for the LDP, we impose one of the following assumptions to ensure the validity of FR.

(C-Commutation) There is a homeomorphism $\theta: M \to M$ such that $\theta \circ \theta = \mathrm{Id}_M$ and $\varphi = \theta \circ \varphi \circ \theta$.

(\mathcal{R} -Reversal) The map φ is a homeomorphism and there is a homeomorphism $\theta: M \to M$ such that $\theta \circ \theta = \operatorname{Id}_M$ and $\varphi^{-1} = \theta \circ \varphi \circ \theta$.

Let us remark that in both cases, if $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, then $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}} := \mathbb{Q} \circ \theta \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$. Indeed, in case (\mathcal{R}) , for any $V \in C(M)$ we have

$$\langle V \circ \varphi, \widehat{\mathbb{Q}} \rangle = \langle V \circ \varphi \circ \theta, \mathbb{Q} \rangle = \langle V \circ \theta \circ \varphi^{-1}, \mathbb{Q} \rangle = \langle V \circ \theta, \mathbb{Q} \rangle = \langle V, \widehat{\mathbb{Q}} \rangle.$$

A similar argument applies in case (C).

Condition (\mathcal{R}) is the standard dynamical system reversal condition that appears in virtually all works on the FT and FR. To the best of our knowledge, it was not previously remarked that (\mathcal{C}) also suffices to derive the FR. Since (\mathcal{C}) does *not* require that φ be a homeomorphism, it allows one to expand the class of examples for which the FR can be established.

Example 3.4 Let X be a compact metric space and $\phi: X \to X$ a continuous map. Set $M = X \times X$ and $\theta(x,y) = (y,x)$. Then (\mathcal{C}) holds for the map $\varphi: (x,y) \mapsto (\phi(x),\phi(y))$. If ϕ is a homeomorphism, then (\mathcal{R}) holds for the homeomorphism $\varphi: (x,y) \mapsto (\phi(x),\phi^{-1}(y))$.

Example 3.5 An interesting concrete setting of Example 3.4 is the case X = [0,1]. The classical examples of interval maps $\phi: [0,1] \to [0,1]$ such as the tent map, Farey map, or the Pomeau-Manneville map are not bijections and (\mathcal{R}) cannot hold whereas (\mathcal{C}) applies. We refer the reader to [CJPS18] for a discussion of the FT and FR for this class of examples.

Observe that Condition $(\mathcal{R})/(\mathcal{C})$ implies

$$S_n(V \circ \theta)(x) = \sum_{0 \le k < n} V \circ \theta \circ \varphi^k(x) = \sum_{0 \le k < n} V \circ \varphi^{\mp k} \circ \theta(x) = (S_n V)(\theta_n^{\mp}(x))$$
 (3.5)

where

$$\theta_n^- = \theta \circ \varphi^{n-1} \text{ for } (\mathcal{R}), \qquad \theta_n^+ = \theta \text{ for } (\mathcal{C}).$$

Note that the map θ_n^{\pm} is an involution: in the case (\mathcal{C}) this is immediate, and in the case (\mathcal{R}) we have

$$(\theta_n^-)^{-1} = \varphi^{1-n} \circ \theta^{-1} = \varphi^{1-n} \circ \theta = \theta \circ \varphi^{n-1} = \theta_n^-.$$

For $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, we define $\mathcal{G} \circ \theta := \{G_n \circ \theta_n^{\pm}\}$.

Lemma 3.6 If G is asymptotically additive with approximating sequence $\{G^{(k)}\}$, then $G \circ \theta$ is asymptotically additive with approximating sequence $\{G^{(k)} \circ \theta\}$.

Proof. By (3.5), we have

$$\|G_n \circ \theta_n^{\pm} - S_n(G^{(k)} \circ \theta)\|_{\infty} = \|G_n \circ \theta_n^{\pm} - S_n(G^{(k)}) \circ \theta_n^{\pm}\|_{\infty} = \|G_n - S_nG^{(k)}\|_{\infty},$$

and the result follows. \Box

It follows from Lemmas 2.3 and 3.6 that

$$(\mathcal{G} \circ \theta)(\mathbb{Q}) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \langle G^{(k)} \circ \theta, \mathbb{Q} \rangle = \lim_{k \to \infty} \langle G^{(k)}, \widehat{\mathbb{Q}} \rangle = \mathcal{G}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}), \quad \mathbb{Q} \in \mathbb{P}_{\varphi}(M).$$
(3.6)

In addition, we have

Lemma 3.7 *The following holds:*

$$h_{\wp}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) = h_{\wp}(\mathbb{Q}) \quad \text{for } \mathbb{Q} \in \mathbb{P}_{\wp}(M),$$
 (3.7)

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G} \circ \theta) = \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) \quad \text{for } \mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M). \tag{3.8}$$

Proof. Let $\psi = \theta \circ \varphi \circ \theta$. Since the Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy is conjugacy invariant (see [Wal82, Theorem 4.11]), $h_{\psi}(\mathbb{Q}) = h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q} \circ \theta) = h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q})$. In case (\mathcal{C}) we have $\psi = \varphi$, and (3.7) follows. In case (\mathcal{R}) we note that by [Wal82, Theorem 4.13], $h_{\psi}(\mathbb{Q}) = h_{\varphi^{-1}}(\mathbb{Q}) = h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q})$. Thus (3.7) holds in both cases.

In order to prove (3.8), we observe that, by (2.14), (3.6) and (3.7),

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G} \circ \theta) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)} \left((\mathcal{G} \circ \theta)(\mathbb{Q}) + h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) \right) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)} \left(\mathcal{G}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) + h_{\varphi}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) \right) \\
= \sup_{\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)} \left(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}) + h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) \right) = \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}),$$

which completes the proof.

The *entropy production in time* n is defined by

$$\sigma_n = \sigma_n(\mathcal{G}) = G_n - G_n \circ \theta_n^{\pm}. \tag{3.9}$$

Observing that M_n is strictly invariant under θ_n^{\pm} , the following result is immediate.

Lemma 3.8 Let $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$. Then $Z_n(\mathcal{G}) = Z_n(\mathcal{G} \circ \theta) =: Z_n$. Moreover, $\mathbb{P}_n \circ \theta_n^{\pm}$ is the measure given by (0.14) for the potential sequence $\mathcal{G} \circ \theta$, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{P}_n \circ \theta_n^{\pm} = Z_n^{-1} \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n \circ \theta_n^{\pm}(x)} \delta_x.$$

Finally, the measures \mathbb{P}_n and $\mathbb{P}_n \circ \theta_n^{\pm}$ are equivalent, and we have

$$\log \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}_n}{\mathrm{d}\mathbb{P}_n \circ \theta_n^{\pm}} = \sigma_n.$$

Condition (PAP) implies that the limit defining the entropic pressure

$$e(\alpha) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \int_{M_n} e^{-\alpha \sigma_n} d\mathbb{P}_n$$

exists for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and is given by

$$e(\alpha) = \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}((1-\alpha)\mathcal{G} + \alpha\mathcal{G} \circ \theta).$$

For $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, let

$$ep(\mathbb{Q}) = \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}) - (\mathcal{G} \circ \theta)(\mathbb{Q}). \tag{3.10}$$

Note that

$$ep(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) = -ep(\mathbb{Q}), \tag{3.11}$$

and that if $G_n = S_n V$ and $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, then $\operatorname{ep}(\mathbb{Q}) = \langle V - V \circ \theta, \mathbb{Q} \rangle = \langle V, \mathbb{Q} - \widehat{\mathbb{Q}} \rangle$.

Theorem 3.9 In addition to the hypotheses of Theorem 3.1, suppose that Condition (C)/(R) holds. Then the rate function \mathbb{I} of the LDP for the empirical measures (0.4) under the laws \mathbb{P}_n satisfies the relation \mathbb{I} 19

$$\mathbb{I}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) = \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) + \operatorname{ep}(\mathbb{Q}) \quad \text{for any } \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M). \tag{3.12}$$

Furthermore, the sequence $\frac{1}{n}\sigma_n$ under the laws \mathbb{P}_n satisfies the LDP (3.4) with the good convex rate function given by

$$I(s) = \inf\{\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \exp(\mathbb{Q}) = s\}.$$
(3.13)

The rate function I satisfies the relation

$$I(-s) = I(s) + s \tag{3.14}$$

for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and is the Legendre transform of $e(-\alpha)$.

Proof. Recall that the rate function \mathbb{I} is given by (3.1). By (3.6) and (3.7), for any $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\omega}(M)$

$$\mathbb{I}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) = -\mathcal{G}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) - h_{\varphi}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) + \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) = -(\mathcal{G} \circ \theta)(\mathbb{Q}) - h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) + \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}),$$

and (3.12) follows.

¹⁹Note that (3.12) implies (0.6) for $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$. On the other hand, when \mathbb{Q} is not invariant, both sides of (0.6) are $+\infty$, whereas in the asymptoticatically additive setup, the quantity $\operatorname{ep}(\mathbb{Q})$ is defined only for $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$.

To obtain the LDP for $n^{-1}\sigma_n$, we first observe that, by Lemma 3.6, the sequence $\{\sigma_n\}$ is asymptotically additive with approximating sequence $\sigma^{(k)} = G^{(k)} - G^{(k)} \circ \theta$. The LDP with rate function (3.13) then follows from Part (2) of Theorem 3.1.

Finally, the FR (3.14) follows from Proposition 1.4, but it also can be directly deduced as follows. Combining (3.11) with (3.12) and (3.13), we see that

$$\begin{split} I(-s) &= \inf \{ \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \operatorname{ep}(\mathbb{Q}) = -s \} \\ &= \inf \{ \mathbb{I}(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}) - \operatorname{ep}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \operatorname{ep}(\mathbb{Q}) = -s \} \\ &= \inf \{ \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}') : \mathbb{Q}' \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \operatorname{ep}(\mathbb{Q}') = s \} + s = I(s) + s, \end{split}$$

where we used the fact that $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ if and only if $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$. This completes the proof of Theorem 3.9.

4 Weak Gibbs measures

Definition 4.1 We say that $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}(M)$ is a weak Gibbs measure for $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ if for any $n \geq 1$ and any $\epsilon > 0$ there is $K_n(\epsilon) \geq 1$ such that

$$K_n(\epsilon)^{-1} e^{G_n(x) - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})} \le \mathbb{P}(B_n(x, \epsilon)) \le K_n(\epsilon) e^{G_n(x) - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})}, \tag{4.1}$$

$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log K_n(\epsilon) = 0, \tag{4.2}$$

where (4.1) holds for every $x \in M$.

Remark 4.2 It is easy to see that if a probability measure $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}(M)$ is weak Gibbs for two potential sequences $\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{G}' \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, then $(G_n - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}))_{n \geq 1}$ and $(G'_n - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}'))_{n \geq 1}$ are equivalent in the sense of Remark 0.11. Conversely, if $\mathcal{G} \sim \mathcal{G}'$, then \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs for \mathcal{G} iff it is weak Gibbs for \mathcal{G}' .

We emphasize that the definition of weak Gibbs measure does not require $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$. Notice also that it follows from (4.1) that the support of \mathbb{P} coincides with M. The following lemma shows that if the latter property is satisfied, then it suffices to require the validity of (4.1) almost everywhere. This observation is technically useful when the transfer operators are used to construct weak Gibbs measures; see [Kes01, Section 2], [Cli10, Appendix B], and [CJPS18].

Lemma 4.3 Let $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, and let $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}(M)$ be a measure such that $\operatorname{supp}(\mathbb{P}) = M$. Assume that for all $\epsilon > 0$, (4.1) holds for \mathbb{P} -almost every $x \in M$, with $\{K_n(\epsilon)\}$ satisfying (4.2). Then \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs for \mathcal{G} .

Proof. Define

$$\gamma(n,\epsilon) := \sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y,z \in B_n(x,\epsilon)} \frac{1}{n} |G_n(y) - G_n(z)|. \tag{4.3}$$

By (2.4),

$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \gamma(n, \epsilon) = 0. \tag{4.4}$$

For given $n \ge 1$ and $\epsilon > 0$, let $A \subset M$ be a set of full \mathbb{P} -measure on which (4.1) holds and let $x \in M$ be an arbitrary point. Since $\overline{A} = M$, we can find $x' \in A \cap B_n(x, \epsilon/2)$, so that

$$\mathbb{P}(B_n(x,\epsilon)) \ge \mathbb{P}(B_n(x',\epsilon/2)) \ge K_n(\epsilon/2) e^{G_n(x') - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})} \ge K_n'(\epsilon)^{-1} e^{G_n(x) - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})},$$

$$\mathbb{P}(B_n(x,\epsilon)) \le \mathbb{P}(B_n(x',2\epsilon)) \le K_n(2\epsilon)e^{G_n(x')-n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})} \le K_n'(\epsilon)e^{G_n(x)-n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})},$$

where

$$K'_n(\epsilon) = e^{n\gamma(n,\epsilon)} \max(K_n(2\epsilon), K_n(\epsilon/2)).$$

Relation (4.4) gives that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log K'_n(\epsilon) = 0$$

and the statement follows.

The following result is again a special case of Theorem 5.2.

Theorem 4.4 Assume that Conditions (USCE) and (S) hold and that \mathbb{P} is a weak Gibbs measure for $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$. Then the conclusions of Theorem 3.1 hold with \mathbb{P}_n replaced with \mathbb{P} .

Recall that σ_n is defined by (3.9). By Lemma 5.4 below, the limit

$$e(\alpha) := \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \int_{M} e^{-\alpha \sigma_n} d\mathbb{P}$$

exists for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and is given by

$$e(\alpha) = \mathfrak{p}_{\omega}((1-\alpha)\mathcal{G} + \alpha\mathcal{G} \circ \theta).$$

The proof of the following result is exactly the same as that of Theorem 3.9.

Theorem 4.5 If in addition to the hypotheses of Theorem 4.4, Condition $(\mathcal{C})/(\mathcal{R})$ holds, then all the conclusions of Theorem 3.9 hold with \mathbb{P}_n replaced with \mathbb{P} .

Remark 4.6 Weak Gibbs measures have been extensively studied in the recent literature on multifractal formalism; see [CJPS18] for references and additional information.

5 Large deviation principles

5.1 Main result and applications

In this subsection we establish the LDP for the empirical measures $\{\mu_n^x\}$ defined in (0.4) and for asymptotically additive potential sequences under some assumptions that cover both the sequence measures (0.14) concentrated on periodic trajectories and the weak Gibbs measures.

We begin with the identification of the rate function for the LDP. Given $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ and $V \in C(M)$, we set $\mathcal{G}_V = \{G_n + S_n(V)\}$ and define a map $\mathbb{I} : \mathcal{P}(M) \to [0, \infty]$ by

$$\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) = \sup_{V \in C(M)} (\langle V, \mathbb{Q} \rangle - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_V) + \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})). \tag{5.1}$$

Note that it follows from (2.13) that for any fixed \mathcal{G} we have

$$|\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_V) - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_{V'})| \leq ||V - V'||_{\infty},$$

and in particular that the map $V \mapsto \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_V)$ is continuous.

Lemma 5.1 The map $\mathcal{P}(M) \ni \mathbb{Q} \mapsto \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) \in [0, +\infty]$ is lower semicontinuous and convex. Moreover, if Condition (USCE) holds, then

$$\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) = \begin{cases}
-\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}) - h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) + \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) & \text{for } \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \\
+\infty & \text{otherwise.}
\end{cases} (5.2)$$

An immediate consequence of (5.2) is that the map $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M) \ni \mathbb{Q} \mapsto \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q})$ is affine if φ satisfies (USCE). **Proof.** By definition (5.1), the function \mathbb{I} is the pointwise supremum of a family of continuous affine

Proof. By definition (5.1), the function \mathbb{I} is the pointwise supremum of a family of continuous affine maps. Therefore it is convex and lower semicontinuous.

If $\mathbb{Q} \notin \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, then there is $V \in C(M)$ such that $\delta := \langle V, \mathbb{Q} \rangle - \langle V \circ \varphi, \mathbb{Q} \rangle > 0$. Thus, letting $V_m = m(V - V \circ \varphi)$ and observing that $||S_n(V_m)||_{\infty} \leq 2m||V||_{\infty}$, we deduce from (2.13) that $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_{V_m}) = \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})$. Since $\langle V_m, \mathbb{Q} \rangle = m\delta$, we conclude that the supremum in (5.1) is equal to $+\infty$.

To prove (5.2) in the case $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, we rewrite (5.1) as

$$\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) = \sup_{V \in C(M)} (\mathcal{G}_V(\mathbb{Q}) - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_V)) - \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}) + \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}).$$

The required result now follows by the variational principle (2.16).

Given a sequence $\{\mathbb{P}_n\}_{n\geq 1}\subset \mathcal{P}(M)$ and a function $V\in C(M)$, we define

$$A_n(V) = \int_M e^{n\langle V, \mu_n^x \rangle} \mathbb{P}_n(\mathrm{d}x) = \int_M e^{S_n(V)(x)} \mathbb{P}_n(\mathrm{d}x).$$

Theorem 5.2 Suppose that Conditions (S) and (USCE) hold. Let $\{\mathbb{P}_n\} \subset \mathcal{P}(M)$ and $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$. Suppose also that the following holds:

(C1) For all $V \in C(M)$, we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log A_n(V) = \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_V) - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}). \tag{5.3}$$

(C2) For any $0 < \delta \ll 1$ there is an integer $n_0(\delta) \ge 1$ and sequences $K_n(\delta) \ge 1$, $m_\delta(n) \in \mathbb{N}$, such that

$$K_n(\delta)^{-1} e^{G_n(x) - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})} \le \mathbb{P}_n(B_{n - m_{\delta}(n)}(x, \delta)) \quad \text{for } x \in M, \, n \ge n_0(\delta),$$
 (5.4)

$$\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \left(\log K_n(\delta) + m_{\delta}(n) \right) = 0.$$
 (5.5)

Then:

(1) The LDP (3.2) holds with the rate function \mathbb{I} given by (5.2).

(2) For any $V = \{V_n\} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, the sequence $\frac{1}{n}V_n$ satisfies the LDP (3.4) with the good convex rate function $I : \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$ defined by the contraction relation

$$I(s) = \inf\{\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \mathcal{V}(\mathbb{Q}) = s\}.$$
(5.6)

Moreover, I is the Legendre transform of the function $\alpha \mapsto \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G} + \alpha \mathcal{V}) - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}).$

The two parts of Theorem 5.2 are proved in Sections 5.2 and 5.3 below. Here we prove that Theorem 5.2 applies to the sequences (0.14) and to weak Gibbs measures.

Lemma 5.3 Assume that φ satisfies Conditions (WPS) and (PAP). Then the measures defined by (0.14) satisfy Conditions (C1) and (C2) of Theorem 5.2.

Proof. Since

$$\log A_n = \log \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x) + S_n V(x)} - \log Z_n = \log \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x) + S_n V(x)} - \log \sum_{x \in M_n} e^{G_n(x)},$$

(**PAP**) yields (5.3) and (C1).

To prove (C2), let $m_{\delta}(n)$ and $n_0(\delta)$ be as in the definition of (WPS). Set

$$\lambda(n,\delta) = \frac{1}{n} \|G_{n-m_{\delta}(n)} - G_n\|_{\infty},\tag{5.7}$$

and let $\gamma(n, \delta)$ be defined by (4.3). It follows from Lemma 2.4 that

$$\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} (\gamma(n, \delta) + \lambda(n, \delta)) = 0.$$
 (5.8)

By (WPS), for any $n \ge n_0(\delta)$ the intersection $M_n \cap B_{n-m_\delta(n)}(x,\delta)$ contains at least one point x_n , so that, by writing $n'(\delta) = n - m_\delta(n)$, we have

$$\log \mathbb{P}_{n}(B_{n'(\delta)}(x,\delta)) \geq G_{n'(\delta)}(x_{n}) - \log Z_{n'(\delta)}$$

$$\geq G_{n'(\delta)}(x) - n'(\delta)\gamma(n'(\delta),\delta) - \log Z_{n'(\delta)}$$

$$\geq G_{n}(x) - n\lambda(n,\delta) - n'(\delta)\gamma(n'(\delta),\delta) - \log Z_{n'(\delta)}$$

$$\geq G_{n}(x) - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) - \log K_{n}(\delta),$$

where

$$K_n(\delta) = \exp\{n\lambda(n,\delta) + n'(\delta)\gamma(n'(\delta),\delta) + |\log Z_{n'(\delta)} - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})|\}.$$

Condition (C2) now follows from (5.8) and the definition of topological pressure.

Lemma 5.4 Suppose that Condition (**USCE**) holds and that $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}(M)$ is a weak Gibbs measure for $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$. Then for all $\mathcal{G}' \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \left\langle e^{G'_n}, \mathbb{P} \right\rangle = \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G} + \mathcal{G}') - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}). \tag{5.9}$$

Proof. The proof follows Proposition 3.2 in [Kif90] (see also Proposition 10.3 in [JPRB11]); since an additional limiting argument is needed, we include it for the sake of completeness.

For any $\epsilon > 0$, $n \ge 1$, and any (ϵ, n) -spanning set $E_{\epsilon, n}$, using (4.1) we derive

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \mathbf{e}^{G'_n}, \mathbb{P} \right\rangle &\leq \sum_{x \in E_{\epsilon,n}} \left\langle \mathbf{1}_{B_n(x,\epsilon)} \mathbf{e}^{G'_n}, \mathbb{P} \right\rangle \leq \mathbf{e}^{n\gamma(n,\epsilon)} \sum_{x \in E_{\epsilon,n}} \mathbf{e}^{G'_n(x)} \mathbb{P} \big(B_n(x,\epsilon) \big) \\ &\leq K_n(\epsilon) \mathbf{e}^{n\gamma(n,\epsilon) - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})} \sum_{x \in E_{\epsilon,n}} \mathbf{e}^{G_n(x) + G'_n(x)}, \end{split}$$

where $\gamma(n, \epsilon)$ is defined by (4.3). It follows that

$$\limsup_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \left\langle \mathrm{e}^{G'_n}, \mathbb{P} \right\rangle \leq \limsup_{n\to\infty} \left(n^{-1} \log K_n(\epsilon) + \gamma(n,\epsilon) + n^{-1} \log S(\mathcal{G} + \mathcal{G}',\epsilon,n) \right) - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}).$$

Sending $\epsilon \to 0$ and using expression (2.9) for $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G} + \mathcal{G}')$, we obtain the " \leq " inequality in (5.9).

To prove the other inequality, we proceed similarly, observing that for any (ϵ, n) -separated set $E_{\epsilon,n}$ we have

$$\left\langle \mathrm{e}^{G_n'}, \mathbb{P} \right\rangle \geq K_n^{-1}(\epsilon) e^{-n\gamma(n,\epsilon) - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})} \sum_{x \in E_{\epsilon,n}} \mathrm{e}^{G_n(x) + G_n'(x)}.$$

Taking the supremum over all (ϵ, n) -separated sets, repeating the above argument, and using expression (2.10) for $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G} + \mathcal{G}')$, we obtain the desired result.

Lemma 5.5 Let $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}(M)$ be a weak Gibbs measure. Then Conditions (C1) and (C2) of Theorem 5.2 hold for $\mathbb{P}_n = \mathbb{P}$.

Proof. (C1) follows from the special case $\mathcal{G}' = \{S_n V\}$ in Lemma 5.4. (C2) with $m_{\delta}(n) \equiv 0$ follows from Definition 4.1.

5.2 Proof of the LDP for empirical measures

We first give the proof of Theorem 5.2 (1), which is completed in the following two steps.

Step 1: LD upper bound.

Proposition 5.6 If Condition (USCE) holds, then

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ \mu_n^{\cdot} \in F \} \le -\inf_{\mathbb{Q} \in F} \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q})$$
 (5.10)

holds for any closed set $F \subset \mathcal{P}(M)$.

Proof. It is a well-known fact (see [Kif90, Theorem 2.1] and also [DZ00, Section 4.5.1]) that the existence of limit (5.3) implies inequality (5.10) with a rate function \mathbb{I} given by the Legendre transform of $\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}_V) - \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})$ with respect to V, *i.e.*, by (5.1).

Step 2: LD lower bound. We need to prove that, for any open set $O \subset \mathcal{P}(M)$,

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ \dot{\mu_n} \in O \} \ge -\inf_{\mathbb{Q} \in O} \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}).$$

This inequality will be established if we prove that, for any $\mathbb{Q} \in O$,

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ \mu_n \in O \} \ge -\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}).$$
(5.11)

Moreover, we only need to consider $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ since otherwise $\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) = +\infty$, and (5.11) is trivially satisfied. To prove (5.11) for $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$, we follow a strategy that goes back to [FO88], see also [EKW94, PS05], and first consider the special case $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{E}_{\varphi}(M)$. In the argument we shall need the following consequence of Birkhoff's ergodic theorem (cf. [FH10, Proposition A.1]).

Lemma 5.7 Let $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{E}_{\varphi}(M)$ and $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$. Then, for \mathbb{Q} -almost every $x \in M$ we have

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{1}{n}G_n(x)=\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}).$$

Proof. Let $\{G^{(k)}\}$ be an approximating sequence for \mathcal{G} . By Birkhoff's ergodic theorem, for any $k \geq 1$ we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} S_n G^{(k)}(x) = \langle G^{(k)}, \mathbb{Q} \rangle$$

for \mathbb{Q} -almost every $x \in M$. By (2.2), the right-hand side converges to $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q})$ when $k \to \infty$, and (0.11) completes the proof.

Proposition 5.8 Assume (5.4). Then inequality (5.11) holds for any open set $O \subset \mathcal{P}(M)$ and any $\mathbb{Q} \in O \cap \mathcal{E}_{\omega}(M)$.

Proof. Fix $O \subset \mathcal{P}(M)$ and $\mathbb{Q} \in O \cap \mathcal{E}_{\varphi}(M)$. Given $V_1, \ldots, V_m \in C(M)$ and $\epsilon > 0$ we set

$$R_{\epsilon} = R_{\epsilon}(V_1, \dots, V_m) = \bigcap_{j=1}^{m} \{ \mathbb{Q}' \in \mathcal{P}(M) : |\langle V_j, \mathbb{Q}' \rangle - \langle V_j, \mathbb{Q} \rangle | < \epsilon \}.$$

Since $O \ni \mathbb{Q}$ is open, we can find finitely many functions $V_1, \ldots, V_m \in C(M)$ and a number $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that $R_{2\epsilon_0} \subset O$. Let $\epsilon \in]0, \epsilon_0[$ and let X_n^{ϵ} be the set of points $x \in M$ such that

$$|n^{-1}G_n(x) - \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q})| < \epsilon, \quad |n^{-1}S_nV_j(x) - \langle V_j, \mathbb{Q} \rangle| < \epsilon \quad \text{for } j = 1, \dots, m.$$

Note that

$$X_n^{\epsilon} \subset X_n^{2\epsilon} \subset \{x \in M : \mu_n^x \in R_{2\epsilon}\} \subset \{x \in M : \mu_n^x \in O\}.$$

Since \mathbb{Q} is ergodic, it follows from Lemma 5.7 that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{Q}(X_n^{\epsilon}) = 1. \tag{5.12}$$

For $\delta > 0$ and $n \ge n_0(\delta)$ we define

$$Y_n^{\epsilon}(\delta) = \left\{ x \in M : \mathbb{Q}(B_{n - m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x, \delta)) \le e^{-n(h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) - \epsilon)} \right\}.$$

Invoking the ergodicity of Q, the Brin–Katok local entropy formula (see [BK83]) implies that

$$\lim_{\delta\downarrow 0} \limsup_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \mathbb{Q}\big(B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x,\delta)\big) = -h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) \quad \text{for } \mathbb{Q}\text{-almost every } x\in M.$$

(We have used also that $\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{n - m_{\delta/2}(n)}{n} = \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{n - m_{\delta/2}(n)}{n} = 1$.) Combining this with a simple measure-theoretic argument (similar to the one used to prove Egorov's theorem), we see that

$$\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{Q}(Y_n^{\epsilon}(\delta)) = 1. \tag{5.13}$$

It follows from (5.12) and (5.13) that for all small enough $\delta > 0$ there is an integer $n_1(\delta) \ge n_0(\delta)$ such that

$$\mathbb{Q}(X_n^{\epsilon} \cap Y_n^{\epsilon}(\delta)) \ge \frac{1}{2} \quad \text{for all } n \ge n_1. \tag{5.14}$$

Moreover, by (2.6) (applied to G_n and to the potential sequences $\{S_nV_j\}$) and (5.5), we can assume, by possibly decreasing δ and increasing n_1 , that for all $n \ge n_1$,

$$\sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y,z \in B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x,\delta/2)} \frac{1}{n} |G_n(y) - G_n(z)| < \epsilon, \tag{5.15}$$

$$\sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y,z \in B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x,\delta/2)} \frac{1}{n} |S_n V_j(y) - S_n V_j(z)| < \epsilon, \quad \text{for } j = 1, \dots, m,$$
 (5.16)

$$\frac{1}{n}\log K_n(\delta/2) < \epsilon. \tag{5.17}$$

Suppose that, for sufficiently large n, we have constructed points $x_1, \ldots, x_{r_n} \in X_n^{\epsilon} \cap Y_n^{\epsilon}(\delta)$ such that the balls $B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_i, \delta/2)$ are pairwise disjoint, and

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{r_n} B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_i, \delta/2) \subset X_n^{2\epsilon}, \qquad X_n^{\epsilon} \cap Y_n^{\epsilon}(\delta) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{r_n} B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_i, \delta). \tag{5.18}$$

In this case, we can write

$$\mathbb{P}_{n}\{\mu_{n}^{\cdot} \in O\} \geq \mathbb{P}_{n}(X_{n}^{2\epsilon}) \geq \sum_{i=1}^{r_{n}} \mathbb{P}_{n}(B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_{i},\delta/2))$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{r_{n}} \frac{\mathbb{P}_{n}(B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_{i},\delta/2))}{\mathbb{Q}(B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_{i},\delta))} \mathbb{Q}(B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_{i},\delta)). \tag{5.19}$$

Since $x_i \in Y_n^{\epsilon}(\delta)$, we have

$$\mathbb{Q}(B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_i,\delta)) \le e^{-n(h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q})-\epsilon)}$$
(5.20)

for $n \ge n_0$. Moreover, (5.4) and $x_i \in X_n^{\epsilon}$ imply that

$$\mathbb{P}_{n}(B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_{i},\delta/2)) \geq K_{n}(\delta/2)^{-1} e^{G_{n}(x_{i})-n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})} \\
\geq K_{n}(\delta/2)^{-1} e^{n\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q})-n\epsilon-n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})}.$$
(5.21)

Thus, using (5.19), (5.20), (5.21), the second inclusion in (5.18), and (5.14), we derive

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}_n\{\mu_n^{\boldsymbol{\cdot}} \in O\} &\geq \frac{1}{2} K_n(\delta/2)^{-1} \mathrm{e}^{n(\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}) + h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q})) - 2n\epsilon - n\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})} \\ &\geq \frac{1}{2} K_n(\delta/2)^{-1} \mathrm{e}^{-n\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) - 2n\epsilon}, \end{split}$$

where the second inequality follows from (5.2). Together with (5.17) this gives

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ \mu_n \in O \} \ge -\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) - 2\epsilon.$$

Since $\epsilon \in]0, \epsilon_0[$ can be chosen arbitrarily small, (5.11) follows.

It remains to construct points $x_1, \ldots, x_{r_n} \in X_n^{\epsilon} \cap Y_n^{\epsilon}(\delta)$ such that the balls $B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_i, \delta/2)$ are disjoint and (5.18) holds.

First, it follows from (5.15) and (5.16) that for all $y \in B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x, \delta/2)$,

$$\left| n^{-1}G_n(y) - \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}) \right| \le \epsilon + \left| n^{-1}G_n(x) - \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}) \right| < 2\epsilon,$$

$$\left| n^{-1}S_nV_j(y) - \langle V_j, \mathbb{Q} \rangle \right| \le \epsilon + \left| n^{-1}S_nV_j(x) - \langle V_j, \mathbb{Q} \rangle \right| < 2\epsilon \quad \text{for } j = 1, \dots, m,$$

and so

$$x \in X_n^{\epsilon} \Longrightarrow B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x,\delta/2) \subset X_n^{2\epsilon}$$
 (5.22)

for all $n \geq n_1$. Now let $\mathfrak{B} = \{B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_i,\delta/2): 1 \leq i \leq r_n\}$ be any maximal²⁰ collection of disjoint balls included in $X_n^{2\epsilon}$ such that $x_i \in X_n^{\epsilon} \cap Y_n^{\epsilon}(\delta)$. The first inclusion in (5.18) follows from (5.22). To prove the second one, suppose that $x_* \in X_n^{\epsilon} \cap Y_n^{\epsilon}(\delta)$ does not belong to any of the balls $B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_i,\delta)$. Then $B_{n-m_{\delta/2}(n)}(x_*,\delta/2)$ does not intersect the balls in \mathfrak{B} and, by (5.22), is included in $X_n^{2\epsilon}$, and the collection \mathfrak{B} is not maximal. This completes the proof of the proposition. \square

The following proposition completes the proof of Part (1) of Theorem 5.2.

Proposition 5.9 *If, in addition to the hypotheses of Proposition* 5.8, Condition (S) holds, then inequality (5.11) holds for any open set $O \subset \mathcal{P}(M)$ and any $\mathbb{Q} \in O \cap \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$.

Proof. Let $\mathbb{Q} \in O \cap \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$. By Proposition 2.2, there exists a sequence $\{\mathbb{Q}^{(m)}\}\subset \mathcal{E}_{\varphi}(M)$ such that

$$\mathbb{Q}^{(m)} \rightharpoonup \mathbb{Q}, \qquad h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}^{(m)}) \to h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}),$$

as $m \to \infty$. In this case, in view of (5.2) and the continuity assertion in Lemma 2.3, we have

$$\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}^{(m)}) = -\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}^{(m)}) - h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}^{(m)}) + \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) \to -\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Q}) - h_{\varphi}(\mathbb{Q}) + \mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G}) = \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q})$$
 (5.23)

as $m \to \infty$. Since O is open, $\mathbb{Q}^{(m)} \in O$ for large enough m, and by Proposition 5.8, we have

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ \dot{\mu_n} \in O \} \ge -\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}^{(m)}).$$

Passing to the limit $m \to \infty$ and using (5.23) we obtain inequality (5.11).

²⁰Such a maximal collection exists, since (5.4) gives an absolute upper bound on r_n .

5.3 Proof of the LDP for asymptotically additive sequences of functions

Part (2) of Theorem 5.2 is a special case of Theorem 4.2.23 in [DZ00].²¹ For the reader's convenience, we outline the proof in our case.

Let $\mathcal{V}=\{V_n\}\in\mathcal{A}(M)$ with approximating sequence $\{V^{(k)}\}$. We define the random variables $\xi_n=\frac{1}{n}V_n$ and

$$\xi_n^k := \frac{1}{n} S_n V^{(k)} = \langle V^{(k)}, \dot{\mu_n} \rangle,$$

and consider them under the law \mathbb{P}_n . By the definition of $V^{(k)}$ we have

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\xi_n^k - \xi_n\|_{\infty} = 0. \tag{5.24}$$

By the usual contraction principle [DZ00, Theorem 4.2.1], for each k the family $\{\xi_n^k\}_{n\geq 1}$ satisfies the LDP with the good convex rate function

$$I_k(s) = \inf\{\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \langle V^{(k)}, \mathbb{Q} \rangle = s\}.$$
 (5.25)

We now show that ξ_n satisfies the LDP with the rate function

$$I(s) := \sup_{\delta > 0} \liminf_{k \to \infty} \inf_{z \in B(s,\delta)} I_k(z).$$

It is immediate that I is lower semicontinuous. By (5.24), for all $\delta > 0$,

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ \xi_n \in B(s, \delta) \} \le - \liminf_{k \to \infty} \inf_{y \in B(s, 2\delta)} I_k(y),$$

$$\liminf_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \mathbb{P}_n\{\xi_n \in B(s,\delta)\} \ge -\liminf_{k\to\infty} \inf_{y\in B(s,\delta/2)} I_k(y).$$

Hence we obtain

$$\sup_{\delta>0} \limsup_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ \xi_n \in B(s,\delta) \} = \sup_{\delta>0} \liminf_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \mathbb{P}_n \{ \xi_n \in B(s,\delta) \} = I(s).$$

A standard argument [DZ00, Theorem 4.1.11] implies that ξ_n satisfies the weak LDP with rate function I. Since the family $\{\xi_n\}$ is bounded (recall Remark 0.11), ξ_n actually satisfies the full LDP, and I is a good rate function. It remains to show that I(s) = J(s), where

$$J(s) = \inf \{ \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \mathcal{V}(\mathbb{Q}) = s \}.$$

Note that J is lower semicontinuous, since $\mathbb{Q} \to \mathcal{V}(\mathbb{Q})$ is continuous on $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ by Lemma 2.3, and is obviously convex. It follows from (5.25) that

$$I(s) = \sup_{\delta > 0} \liminf_{k \to \infty} \inf \{ \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \langle V^{(k)}, \mathbb{Q} \rangle \in B(s, \delta) \},$$

while the lower semicontinuity of J gives

$$J(s) = \sup_{\delta > 0} \inf_{y \in B(s,\delta)} J(s) = \sup_{\delta > 0} \inf \{ \mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) : \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M), \mathcal{V}(\mathbb{Q}) \in B(s,\delta) \}.$$

Using that $\langle V^{(k)}, \mathbb{Q} \rangle \to \mathcal{V}(\mathbb{Q})$ uniformly on $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ (recall (2.2)), we derive that J(s) = I(s). This completes the proof of Part (2) of Theorem 5.2.

²¹In the notation therein, $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{P}(M)$, $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{R}$, $f_m(\mathbb{Q}) = \langle V^{(m)}, \mathbb{Q} \rangle$ and $f(\mathbb{Q})$ is defined by $\mathcal{V}(\mathbb{Q})$ when $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$ and arbitrarily when $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}(M) \setminus \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}(M)$.

6 Conditions for asymptotic additivity

In this section we give some necessary and sufficient conditions for a potential sequence to be asymptotically additive.

A sequence $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\} \subset B(M)$ is said to have tempered variation if

$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y, z \in B_n(x, \epsilon)} \frac{1}{n} |G_n(y) - G_n(z)| = 0.$$
(6.1)

We have shown in Lemma 2.4 that asymptotic additivity implies (6.1). Below, we shall sometimes take (6.1) as an assumption (along with others), in order to obtain asymptotic additivity.

We recall that $\{G_n\} \subset B(M)$ is called *weakly almost additive* if for all $n, m \ge 1$,

$$-C_m + G_m + G_n \circ \varphi^m \le G_{m+n} \le C_m + G_m + G_n \circ \varphi^m, \tag{6.2}$$

where $\lim_{n\to\infty} n^{-1}C_n = 0$.

The main result of this section is

Theorem 6.1 If $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\}_{n \geq 1} \subset B(M)$ satisfies any of the following conditions, then \mathcal{G} is asymptotically additive.

- (1) $G_n = S_n G$ for each n, with $G \in C(M)$.
- (2) $G_n = S_n G$ for each n, with $G \in B(M)$, and G has tempered variation.
- (3) \mathcal{G} is weakly almost additive, and $G_n \in C(M)$ for each n.
- (4) *G* is weakly almost additive and has tempered variation.

Moreover, if $\mathcal{G} \subset C(M)$, then the following assertion is equivalent to asymptotic additivity of \mathcal{G} .

(5) G satisfies

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \|G_n - \frac{1}{k} S_n G_k\|_{\infty} = 0.$$
 (6.3)

Finally, for $\mathcal{G} \subset B(M)$, each of the following assertions is equivalent to asymptotic additivity of \mathcal{G} .

- (6) \mathcal{G} has tempered variation and satisfies (6.3).
- (7) $\mathcal G$ has tempered variation and there exists a sequence $\{G^{(k)}\}\subset B(M)$ such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \|G_n - S_n G^{(k)}\|_{\infty} = 0.$$
 (6.4)

(8) There exists a sequence $\{G^{(k)}\}\subset B(M)$ such that (6.4) holds, and

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y, z \in B_n(x, \epsilon)} \frac{1}{n} \left| S_n G^{(k)}(y) - S_n G^{(k)}(z) \right| = 0.$$
 (6.5)

Let us mention that various partial results contained in Theorem 6.1 were known earlier (e.g., see the papers [Bar06, ZZC11, Bar11] and the references therein). However, the equivalence relationships stated above seem to be new.

We start with the following lemma, which was established in [FH10, Proposition A.5] and [ZZC11, Proposition 2.1] in the almost additive case, that is, when $\{C_m\}$ in (6.2) is a constant sequence.

Lemma 6.2 Assume that $\{G_n\} \subset B(M)$ is weakly almost additive. Then (6.3) holds.

Proof. Given two positive integers n and k, we write n_k for the integer part of n/k and, for a function V, denote

$$S_n^k V = \sum_{r=0}^{n-1} V \circ \varphi^{rk}.$$

Suppose that for any $\epsilon > 0$ we can find $k_{\epsilon} \geq 1$ such that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left\| n^{-1} G_n - n^{-1} S_{n_k}^k G_k \right\|_{\infty} \le \epsilon \quad \text{for } k \ge k_{\epsilon}.$$
 (6.6)

For a fixed $k \ge k_{\epsilon}$ and any $\ell \in [1, k-1]$, replacing x by $\varphi^{\ell}(x)$ in (6.6) and using an elementary estimate for the ergodic average, we derive

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left\| n^{-1} G_n \circ \varphi^{\ell} - n^{-1} S_{(n+\ell)_k}^k G_k \circ \varphi^{\ell} \right\|_{\infty} \le \epsilon \quad \text{for } k \ge k_{\epsilon}.$$

Combining this with the relation

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \| (n+\ell)^{-1} G_{n+\ell} - n^{-1} G_n \circ \varphi^{\ell} \|_{\infty} = 0$$

which follows from (6.2), we obtain

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left\| n^{-1} G_n - n^{-1} S_{n_k}^k G_k \circ \varphi^{\ell} \right\|_{\infty} \le \epsilon \quad \text{for } k \ge k_{\epsilon}.$$
 (6.7)

Now note that

$$k^{-1} \sum_{\ell=0}^{k-1} S_{n_k}^k G_k \circ \varphi^{\ell} = k^{-1} S_{kn_k} G_k.$$

Comparing with (6.7) we get that for $k \geq k_{\epsilon}$,

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|n^{-1}G_n - n^{-1}k^{-1}S_{kn_k}G_k\|_{\infty} = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|n^{-1}G_n - n^{-1}k^{-1}S_nG_k\|_{\infty} \le \epsilon.$$

Since $\epsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, the relation (6.3) follows.

We now prove (6.6). Let us fix an integer $k \ge 1$ and write, for n large, $n = kn_k + \ell$, where $0 \le \ell \le k - 1$. Applying inequality (6.2) consecutively n_k times, we derive

$$G_n \le k_n C_k + \sum_{r=0}^{n_k - 1} G_k \circ \varphi^{rk} + G_\ell \circ \varphi^{kn_k}.$$

This gives

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in M} \left(n^{-1} G_n(x) - n^{-1} S_{n_k}^k G_k(x) \right) \le k^{-1} C_k.$$

Replacing G_n by $-G_n$, we derive

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \inf_{x \in M} \left(n^{-1} G_n(x) - n^{-1} S_{n_k}^k(G_k)(x) \right) \ge -k^{-1} C_k.$$

Combining the last two inequalities and recalling that $n^{-1}C_n \to 0$, we arrive at (6.6).

Lemma 6.3 Let $\mathcal{G} = \{G_n\} \subset B(M)$ be such that there exists $\{G^{(k)}\} \subset B(M)$ satisfying (6.4). Then (6.3) holds.

Proof. For all j we have

$$||G_n - k^{-1}S_nG_k||_{\infty} \le ||G_n - S_nG^{(j)}||_{\infty} + ||S_nG^{(j)} - k^{-1}S_nS_kG^{(j)}||_{\infty} + ||K^{-1}||S_nS_kG^{(j)} - S_nG_k||_{\infty}.$$

Applying Lemma 6.2 to $\{S_nG^{(j)}\}\$ we obtain that for each j,

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} ||S_n G^{(j)} - k^{-1} S_n S_k G^{(j)}||_{\infty} = 0.$$

Fix now $\epsilon > 0$. If j is large enough, then by (6.4) we have

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \|G_n - S_n G^{(j)}\|_{\infty} \le \epsilon,$$

$$\limsup_{k \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{kn} \|S_n S_k G^{(j)} - S_n G_k\|_{\infty} \le \limsup_{k \to \infty} \frac{1}{k} \|S_k G^{(j)} - G_k\|_{\infty} \le \epsilon.$$

We thus obtain

$$\limsup_{k \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} ||G_n - k^{-1} S_n G_k||_{\infty} \le 2\epsilon.$$

Since ϵ is arbitrary, this completes the proof.

Lemma 6.4 Let $f \in B(M)$ be such that for some fixed n, ϵ, α we have

$$\sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y \in B_n(x,\epsilon)} |f(y) - f(x)| \le \alpha.$$

Then there exists a continuous function g such that $||f - g||_{\infty} \leq \alpha$.

Proof. Let $E = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_r\}$ be any finite (n, ϵ) -spanning set. Let ρ_1, \dots, ρ_r be a partition of unity subordinated to the collection $\{B_n(x_i, \epsilon) : i = 1, \dots, r\}$ (i.e., ρ_i is continuous, vanishes outside $B_n(x_i, \epsilon)$, and $\sum_i \rho_i = 1$). We claim that the continuous function

$$g = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \rho_i f(x_i)$$

satisfies the required properties. Let $x \in M$ and let $J \subset \{1, \dots, r\}$ be the largest set such that $x \in \bigcap_{j \in J} B_n(x_j, \epsilon)$. We then have

$$|g(x) - f(x)| = |\sum_{j \in J} \rho_j(x) f(x_j) - f(x)| = |\sum_{j \in J} \rho_j(x) (f(x_j) - f(x))| \le \alpha,$$

and the result follows.

Proof of Proposition 6.1. In case (1) we can obviously choose $G^{(k)} = G$ as an approximating sequence for \mathcal{G} . Next, (2) is a special case of (4) with $C_n \equiv 0$. In case (3), we obtain by Lemma 6.2 that (6.3) holds so that we are in case (5). In case (4), (6.3) also holds by Lemma 6.2, and hence we find ourselves in the case (6).

That (5) implies asymptotic additivity is immediate, with $G^{(k)} := k^{-1}G_k$ as an approximating sequence. The reverse implication follows immediately from Lemma 6.3 applied to G_n and any approximating sequence $\{G^{(k)}\}$.

We now prove that (6) implies asymptotic additivity. First, it follows from (6.1) that there exists a sequence $\{\epsilon_k\}_{k\geq 1}$ such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y \in B_k(x, \epsilon_k)} \frac{1}{k} |G_k(x) - G_k(y)| = 0.$$
 (6.8)

Indeed, by (6.1), for each $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $\overline{\epsilon}(\ell)$ and $k_0(\ell)$ such that for all $k \geq k_0(\ell)$ we have $\sup_{x \in M} \sup_{y \in B_k(x,\overline{\epsilon}(\ell))} \frac{1}{k} |G_k(x) - G_k(y)| \leq \ell^{-1}$. Let $\{\ell_k\}$ be such that $\ell_k \to \infty$ and $k \geq k_0(\ell_k)$ for all k. Setting $\epsilon_k = \overline{\epsilon}(\ell_k)$ establishes (6.8).

Let $G^{(k)}$ be the regularization of $\frac{1}{k}G_k$ obtained in Lemma 6.4 with respect to the Bowen balls $B_k(x, \epsilon_k)$, with ϵ_k as in (6.8). The function $G^{(k)}$ is continuous and

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|k^{-1} G_k - G^{(k)}\|_{\infty} = 0.$$
(6.9)

Since

$$\frac{1}{n} \|G_n - S_n G^{(k)}\|_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{n} \|G_n - k^{-1} S_n G_k\|_{\infty} + \frac{1}{n} \|S_n \left[k^{-1} G_k - G^{(k)} \right] \|_{\infty},$$

relations (6.3) and (6.9) give that G_n is asymptotically additive.

Next, Lemma 6.3 immediately implies that (7) is a special case of (6). Finally, assuming (6.4), it is easy to see that (6.1) and (6.5) are equivalent. Thus, (7) and (8) are equivalent.

We have shown that $(8) \iff (7) \implies (6) \implies \mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$. Since by Lemma 2.4 asymptotic additivity implies (7), the statements (6), (7), (8) are all equivalent to $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$.

Remark 6.5 Note that by the characterization given in (5), if $G_n \in C(M)$ for all n, then the approximating sequence can be chosen to be $G^{(k)} = k^{-1}G_k$. Moreover, the proof gives that when these functions are not continuous, $G^{(k)}$ can be chosen as a regularization of $k^{-1}G_k$. By the finiteness of (0.13), this specific choice of $G^{(k)}$ satisfies $\sup_{k\geq 1}\|G^{(k)}\|_{\infty}<\infty$ (this is not true of all approximating sequences). Finally, if $\mathcal{G}=\{G_n\}\subset B(M)$ is asymptotically additive, then there exists an asymptotically additive potential sequence $\{G'_n\}\subset C(M)$ in the same class as \mathcal{G} in the sense of Remark 0.11, i.e., such that $\limsup_{n\to\infty} n^{-1}\|G_n-G'_n\|_{\infty}=0$. Indeed, it suffices to take an approximating sequence $\{G^{(k)}\}\subset C(M)$ for \mathcal{G} , and then to define $G'_n=S_nG^{(k_n)}$ for some well-chosen sequence $k_n\to\infty$ (which is obtained with an argument similar to that leading to (6.8)).

Remark 6.6 The reader may check that $G_n = \log n$ gives a sequence which is weakly almost additive but not almost additive. Moreover, choosing $G_n = \sqrt{n}$ when n is even, and $G_n = 0$ when n is odd,

²²We recall that a sequence is almost additive if (6.2) holds with C_n independent of n.

gives a sequence which is asymptotically additive but not weakly almost additive. We note that these two potential sequences are actually equivalent (in the sense of Remark 0.11) to the potential which is identically zero. It remains an open question whether one can find an asymptotically additive potential \mathcal{G} such that there is no additive potential in the same equivalence class.

Frequently used notation

(S)	specification property, page 18
(WPS)	weak periodic specification property, page 18
(USCE)	upper semi-continuity of entropy, page 23
(PAP)	periodic approximation of pressure, page 23
(C)	φ is continuous, page 17
(\mathbf{H})	φ is a homeomorphism, page 17
(C-Commutation)	commutation hypothesis, page 26
(R-Reversal)	reversal hypothesis, page 26
M	compact metric space
arphi	continuous mapping of the space M into itself
M_n	set of fixed points of the mapping φ^n
C(M)	space of continuous functions $V:M\to\mathbb{R}$ with the supremum norm $\ \cdot\ _\infty$
B(M)	space of bounded measurable functions $V:M\to\mathbb{R}$ with the norm $\ \cdot\ _\infty$
$\mathcal{A}(M)$	space of asymptotically additive sequences of functions, page 7
$\mathcal{P}(M)$	set of probability measures on the space M with the Borel σ -algebra
$\mathcal{P}_{arphi}(M)$	set of invariant measures for a mapping φ
$\mathcal{E}_{arphi}(M)$	set of ergodic invariant measures for φ
$h_{\mathrm{Top}}(\varphi)$	topological entropy of φ
$h_{arphi}(\mathbb{Q})$	Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy of φ
$\mathfrak{p}_{\varphi}(\mathcal{G})$	topological pressure of a continuous map φ with respect to $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{A}(M)$, page 20
μ_n^x	empirical measures, page 4
σ_n	the entropy production in time n , page 27

References

- [Bar06] L. Barreira, *Nonadditive thermodynamic formalism: equilibrium and Gibbs measures*, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. **16** (2006), no. 2, 279–305.
- [Bar11] _____, Thermodynamic Formalism and Applications to Dimension Theory, Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011.
- [BC15] A. C. Barato and R. Chetrite, *A formal view on level 2.5 large deviations and fluctuation relations*, J. Stat. Phys. **160** (2015), no. 5, 1154–1172.
- [BCJP18] T. Benoist, N. Cuneo, V. Jakšić, and C.-A. Pillet, *On entropy production of repeated quantum measurements II*, in preparation (2018).
- [BDG⁺06] L. Bertini, A. De Sole, D. Gabrielli, G. Jona-Lasinio, and C. Landim, *Non equilibrium current fluctuations in stochastic lattice gases*, J. Stat. Phys. **123** (2006), no. 2, 237–276.

- [BDG⁺15] _____, Macroscopic fluctuation theory, Rev. Modern Phys. **87** (2015), no. 2, 593–636.
- [BG06] L. Barreira and K. Gelfert, *Multifractal analysis for Lyapunov exponents on nonconformal repellers*, Comm. Math. Phys. **267** (2006), no. 2, 393–418. MR 2249774
- [BJPP17] T. Benoist, V. Jakšić, C.-A. Pillet, and Y. Pautrat, *On entropy production of repeated quantum measurements I. General theory*, Comm. Math. Phys (2017), to appear.
- [BK83] M. Brin and A. Katok, *On local entropy*, Geometric dynamics (Rio de Janeiro, 1981), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1007, Springer, Berlin, 1983, pp. 30–38.
- [Bow70] R. Bowen, *Markov partitions and minimal sets for Axiom A diffeomorphisms*, Amer. J. Math. **92** (1970), 907–918.
- [Bow74] _____, Some systems with unique equilibrium states, Math. Systems Theory 8 (1974), no. 3, 193–202.
- [Bow75] ______, Equilibrium States and the Ergodic Theory of Anosov Diffeomorphisms, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 470, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1975.
- [BV15] T. Bomfim and P. Varandas, *Multifractal analysis of the irregular set for almost-additive sequences via large deviations*, Nonlinearity **28** (2015), no. 10, 3563–3585.
- [CFH08] Y. Cao, D.-J. Feng, and W. Huang, *The thermodynamic formalism for sub-additive potentials*, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. **20** (2008), no. 3, 639–657.
- [CJN⁺18] N. Cuneo, V. Jakšić, V. Nersesyan, C.-A. Pillet, M. Porta, and A. Shirikyan, in preparation (2018).
- [CJPS17] N. Cuneo, V. Jakšić, C.-A. Pillet, and A. Shirikyan, *Large deviations and fluctuation theorem for selectively decoupled measures on shift spaces*, in preparation (2017).
- [CJPS18] _____, What is the fluctuation theorem?, in preparation (2018).
- [Cli10] V. Climenhaga, *Thermodynamic formalism and multifractal analysis for general topological dynamical systems*, Pennsylvania State University, 2010, PhD Thesis.
- [DK01] M. Denker and M. Kesseböhmer, *Thermodynamic formalism, large deviation, and multi-fractals*, Stochastic climate models (Chorin, 1999), Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001, pp. 159–169.
- [DZ00] A. Dembo and O. Zeitouni, *Large Deviations Techniques and Applications*, Springer–Verlag, Berlin, 2000.
- [ECM93] D. J. Evans, E. G. D. Cohen, and G. P. Morriss, *Probability of second law violations in shearing steady states*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **71** (1993), 2401–2404.
- [EKW94] A. Eizenberg, Y. Kifer, and B. Weiss, *Large deviations for* \mathbb{Z}^d -actions, Comm. Math. Phys. **164** (1994), no. 3, 433–454.
- [EP86] J.-P. Eckmann and I. Procaccia, *Fluctuations of dynamical scaling indices in nonlinear systems*, Physical Review A **34** (1986), no. 1, 659.
- [ER85] J.-P. Eckmann and D. Ruelle, *Ergodic theory of chaos and strange attractors*, Rev. Modern Phys. **57** (1985), no. 3, part 1, 617–656.

- [ES94] D. J. Evans and D. J. Searles, *Equilibrium microstates which generate second law violating steady states*, Phys. Rev. E **50** (1994), 1645–1648.
- [ES02] , The fluctuation theorem, Adv. Phys. **51** (2002), 1529–1585.
- [Fal88] K. J. Falconer, A subadditive thermodynamic formalism for mixing repellers, J. Phys. A 21 (1988), no. 14, L737–L742.
- [Fen03] D.-J. Feng, Lyapunov exponents for products of matrices and multifractal analysis. I. Positive matrices, Israel J. Math. 138 (2003), 353–376.
- [Fen09] _____, Lyapunov exponents for products of matrices and multifractal analysis. II. General matrices, Israel J. Math. **170** (2009), 355–394.
- [FH10] D.-J. Feng and W. Huang, *Lyapunov spectrum of asymptotically sub-additive potentials*, Comm. Math. Phys. **297** (2010), no. 1, 1–43.
- [FO88] H. Föllmer and S. Orey, *Large deviations for the empirical field of a Gibbs measure*, Ann. Probab. **16** (1988), no. 3, 961–977.
- [FO03] D.-J. Feng and E. Olivier, Multifractal analysis of weak Gibbs measures and phase transition—application to some Bernoulli convolutions, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 23 (2003), no. 6, 1751–1784.
- [Gal95] G. Gallavotti, *Reversible Anosov diffeomorphisms and large deviations*, Math. Phys. Electron. J. **1** (1995), Paper 1, 1–12.
- [Gas05] P. Gaspard, *Dynamical systems theory of irreversibility*, Chaotic dynamics and transport in classical and quantum systems, NATO Sci. Ser. II Math. Phys. Chem., vol. 182, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2005, pp. 107–157.
- [GC95a] G. Gallavotti and E. G. D. Cohen, *Dynamical ensembles in nonequilibrium statistical mechanics*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **74** (1995), 2694–2697.
- [GC95b] _____, Dynamical ensembles in stationary states, J. Statist. Phys. **80** (1995), no. 5-6, 931–970.
- [Isr15] R. B. Israel, Convexity in the Theory of Lattice Gases, Princeton University Press, 2015.
- [IY17] G. Iommi and Y. Yayama, *Weak Gibbs measures as Gibbs measures for asymptotically additive sequences*, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **145** (2017), no. 4, 1599–1614.
- [JOPS12] V. Jakšić, Y. Ogata, C.-A. Pillet, and R. Seiringer, *Quantum hypothesis testing and non-equilibrium statistical mechanics*, Rev. Math. Phys. **24** (2012), no. 6, 1230002, 67.
- [JPRB11] V. Jakšić, C.-A. Pillet, and L. Rey-Bellet, *Entropic fluctuations in statistical mechanics: I. Classical dynamical systems*, Nonlinearity **24** (2011), no. 3, 699–763.
- [JPS17] V. Jakšić, C.-A. Pillet, and A. Shirikyan, *Entropic fluctuations in thermally driven harmonic networks*, J. Stat. Phys. **166** (2017), no. 3-4, 926–1015.
- [JQQ04] D.-Q. Jiang, M. Qian, and M.-P. Qian, *Mathematical Theory of Nonequilibrium Steady States*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1833, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.

- [Kat80] A. Katok, *Lyapunov exponents, entropy and periodic orbits for diffeomorphisms*, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1980), no. 51, 137–173.
- [Kes01] M. Kesseböhmer, *Large deviation for weak Gibbs measures and multifractal spectra*, Nonlinearity **14** (2001), no. 2, 395–409.
- [KH95] A. Katok and B. Hasselblatt, *Introduction to the Modern Theory of Dynamical Systems*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [Kif90] Y. Kifer, *Large deviations in dynamical systems and stochastic processes*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **321** (1990), no. 2, 505–524.
- [KLO16] D. Kwietniak, M. Lacka, and P. Oprocha, *A panorama of specification-like properties and their consequences*, Dynamics and numbers, Contemp. Math., vol. 669, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2016, pp. 155–186.
- [Kur98] J. Kurchan, Fluctuation theorem for stochastic dynamics, J. Phys. A **31** (1998), no. 16, 3719–3729.
- [LS99] J. L. Lebowitz and H. Spohn, *A Gallavotti-Cohen-type symmetry in the large deviation functional for stochastic dynamics*, J. Statist. Phys. **95** (1999), no. 1-2, 333–365.
- [Mae99] C. Maes, *The fluctuation theorem as a Gibbs property*, J. Statist. Phys. **95** (1999), no. 1-2, 367–392.
- [Mak98] N. G. Makarov, *Fine structure of harmonic measure*, Algebra i Analiz **10** (1998), no. 2, 1–62.
- [Man71] A. Manning, *Axiom A diffeomorphisms have rational zeta functions*, Bull. London Math. Soc. **3** (1971), 215–220.
- [MV03] C. Maes and E. Verbitskiy, *Large deviations and a fluctuation symmetry for chaotic homeomorphisms*, Comm. Math. Phys. **233** (2003), no. 1, 137–151.
- [OP88] S. Orey and S. Pelikan, *Large deviation principles for stationary processes*, Ann. Probab. **16** (1988), no. 4, 1481–1495.
- [OP89] _____, Deviations of trajectory averages and the defect in Pesin's formula for Anosov diffeomorphisms, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **315** (1989), no. 2, 741–753.
- [OST05] E. Olivier, N. Sidorov, and A. Thomas, *On the Gibbs properties of Bernoulli convolutions related to β-numeration in multinacci bases*, Monatsh. Math. **145** (2005), no. 2, 145–174.
- [Por10] M. Porta, Fluctuation theorem, nonlinear response, and the regularity of time reversal symmetry, Chaos **20** (2010), no. 2, 023111, 5.
- [PP90] W. Parry and M. Pollicott, *Zeta functions and the periodic orbit structure of hyperbolic dynamics*, Astérisque (1990), no. 187-188, 268.
- [PS05] C.-E. Pfister and W. G. Sullivan, Large deviations estimates for dynamical systems without the specification property. Applications to the β -shifts, Nonlinearity **18** (2005), no. 1, 237–261.

- [PS18] C.-E. Pfister and W. Sullivan, *Weak Gibbs measures and large deviations*, Nonlinearity (2018), to appear.
- [RaM07] L. Rondoni and C. Mejía Monasterio, Fluctuations in nonequilibrium statistical mechanics: models, mathematical theory, physical mechanisms, Nonlinearity 20 (2007), no. 10, R1–R37.
- [Rue79] D. Ruelle, *Analycity properties of the characteristic exponents of random matrix products*, Adv. in Math. **32** (1979), no. 1, 68–80. MR 534172
- [Rue92] D. Ruelle, *Thermodynamic formalism for maps satisfying positive expansiveness and specification*, Nonlinearity **5** (1992), no. 6, 1223–1236.
- [Rue99] ______, Smooth dynamics and new theoretical ideas in nonequilibrium statistical mechanics, J. Statist. Phys. **95** (1999), no. 1-2, 393–468.
- [Rue04] D. Ruelle, *Thermodynamic Formalism*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004.
- [Tes06] B. Testud, *Phase transitions for the multifractal analysis of self-similar measures*, Nonlinearity **19** (2006), no. 5, 1201–1217.
- [VZ15] P. Varandas and Y. Zhao, *Weak specification properties and large deviations for non-additive potentials*, Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems **35** (2015), no. 03, 968–993.
- [Wal82] P. Walters, An Introduction to Ergodic Theory, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1982.
- [You90] L.-S. Young, *Large deviations in dynamical systems*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **318** (1990), no. 2, 525–543.
- [ZZC11] Y. Zhao, L. Zhang, and Y. Cao, *The asymptotically additive topological pressure on the irregular set for asymptotically additive potentials*, Nonlinear Anal. **74** (2011), no. 15, 5015–5022.